Henry Fielding

# **Table of Contents**

The M	<u>iser</u>	1
	Henry Fielding	1
ACT I.	· · ·	5
	SCENE I	5
	SCENE II	6
	SCENE III.	
	SCENE IV.	
	SCENE V	
	SCENE VI	
	SCENE VII.	
	SCENE VIII.	
	SCENE IX.	
<u>ACT II</u>	SCENE I	
	<u>SCENE I.</u>	
	<u>SCENE III.</u> SCENE III.	
	SCENE IV	
	SCENE V.	
	<u>SCENE VI.</u>	
<u>ACT II</u>	<u>I.</u>	
	SCENE I.	
	SCENE II.	
	<u>SCENE III.</u>	
	<u>SCENE IV.</u>	
	SCENE V.	
	<u>SCENE VI.</u>	
	SCENE VII.	
	SCENE VIII.	
	SCENE IX.	
	SCENE X	45
	SCENE XI.	45
	SCENE XII.	46
	SCENE XIII.	47
ACT IV	<u>V.</u>	48
	<u>SCENE I.</u>	48
	SCENE II.	49
	SCENE III.	49
	SCENE IV.	51
	SCENE V.	
	SCENE VI.	
	SCENE VII.	
	SCENE VIII.	
	SCENE IX	
	SCENE X	
	SCENE XI	
	SCENE XII	
	SCENE XIII.	
	SCENE XIV	
	<u>DCLALL ALV</u> .	04

# **Table of Contents**

The Miser	
SCENE XIII.	65
SCENE XIV.	
ACT V.	
<u>SCENE I.</u>	
SCENE II.	
SCENE III.	
<u>SCENE IV.</u>	
<u>SCENE V.</u>	
<u>SCENE VI.</u>	
<u>SCENE VII.</u>	
<u>SCENE VIII</u>	
<u>SCENE IX.</u>	
<u>SCENE X.</u>	
<u>SCENE XI.</u>	
<u>SCENE XII.</u>	
<u>SCENE XIII.</u>	
<u>SCENE XIV</u>	
SCENE XV	
SCENE XVI.	
<u>SCENE XVII</u>	
SCENE XVIII.	
SCENE XVII.	85

# **Henry Fielding**

This page copyright © 2002 Blackmask Online.

http://www.blackmask.com

- <u>ACT I.</u>
  - <u>SCENE I.</u>
  - <u>SCENE II.</u>
  - <u>SCENE III.</u>
  - <u>SCENE IV.</u>
  - <u>SCENE V.</u>
  - <u>SCENE VI.</u>
  - <u>SCENE VII.</u>
  - <u>SCENE VIII.</u>
  - <u>SCENE IX.</u>

• <u>ACT II.</u>

- <u>SCENE I.</u>
- <u>SCENE II.</u>
- <u>SCENE III,</u>
- <u>SCENE IV.</u>
- <u>SCENE V.</u>
- <u>SCENE VI.</u>

• <u>ACT III.</u>

- <u>SCENE I.</u>
- <u>SCENE II.</u>
- <u>SCENE III.</u>
- <u>SCENE IV.</u>
- <u>SCENE V.</u>
- <u>SCENE VI.</u>
- <u>SCENE VII.</u>
- <u>SCENE VIII.</u>
- <u>SCENE IX.</u>
- <u>SCENE X.</u> • <u>SCENE XI.</u>
- <u>SCENE XII.</u>
- <u>SCENE XIII.</u>

• <u>ACT IV.</u>

- <u>SCENE I.</u>
- <u>SCENE II.</u>
- <u>SCENE III.</u>

- <u>SCENE IV.</u>
- <u>SCENE V.</u>
- <u>SCENE VI.</u>
- <u>SCENE VII.</u>
- <u>SCENE VIII.</u>
- <u>SCENE IX.</u> • SCENE X.
- <u>SCENE XI.</u>
- SCENE XII.
- SCENE XIII.
- SCENE XIV.
- SCENE XIII.
- SCENE XIV.

• <u>ACT V.</u>

- <u>SCENE I.</u>
- <u>SCENE II.</u>
- <u>SCENE III.</u>
- <u>SCENE IV.</u>
- <u>SCENE V.</u>
- <u>SCENE VI.</u>
- <u>SCENE VII.</u>
- <u>SCENE VIII.</u>
- <u>SCENE IX.</u>
- <u>SCENE X.</u>
- <u>SCENE XI.</u>
- <u>SCENE XII.</u> • <u>SCENE XIII.</u>
- <u>SCENE XIV.</u>
- <u>SCENE XIV.</u>
- <u>SCENE XVI</u>.
- <u>SCENE XVI.</u> • SCENE XVII.
- <u>SCENE XVII.</u> • <u>SCENE XVIII.</u>
- <u>SCENE XVII.</u>

# A COMEDY.

Taken from Plautus and Moliere. As it is Acted at the Theatre–Royal in Drury–Lane, by His Majesty's Servants.

Servorum ventres modio castigat iniquo, Ipse quoque esuriens: neque enim omnia sustinet unquam Mucida coerulei panis consumere frusta, Hesternum solitas medio servare minutal Septembri; nec non differre in tempora coenæ Alterius, conchem æstivi cum parte lacerti Signatam, vel dimidio putríque siluro, Filáque sectivi numerata includere porri. Invitatus ad hæc aliquis de ponte negabit.

Sed quò divitias hæc per tormenta coactas? Cùm furor haud dubius, cùm sit manifesta phrenesis, Ut locuples moriaris, egenti vivere fato?

Juven.

To His Grace CHARLES Duke of Richmond and Lenox.

MY LORD,

As there is scarce any Vanity more general, than that of desiring to be thought well received by the Great, pardon me, if I take [Page]

the first Opportunity of boasting the Countenance I have met with from One who is an Honour to the High Rank in which he is born. The *Muses*, My Lord, stand in need of such Protectors; nor do I know under whose Protection I can so properly introduce Moliere, as that of Your Grace, to whom he is as familiar in his own Language as in ours.

The Pleasure, which I may be supposed to receive from an extraordinary Success in so difficult an Undertaking, must be indeed compleat by Your Approbation. The perfect Knowledge which Your Grace is known to have of the Manners, Habits, and Taste of that Nation whence this Play was derived, makes You the properest Judge, wherein I have judiciously kept up to, or departed from the Original. The Theatre hath declared loudly in Favour of the Miser; and You, my Lord, are to decide what Share the Translator merits in the Applause.

I shall not grow tedious, by entering into the usual Stile of Dedications: for my Pen cannot accompany my Heart when I speak of Your Grace; and I am now writing to the only Person living to whom such a Panegyrick would be displeasing: Therefore I shall beg Leave to conclude with the highest on my self, by affirming that it is my greatest Ambition to be thought,

My Lord, Your Grace's most obliged, and most obedient humble Servant, Henry Fielding.

### PROLOGUE, Written by a Friend. Spoke by Mr. BRIDGWATER. [By unknown]

Too long the slighted Comic Muse has mourn'd, Her Face quite alter'd, and her Art o'erturn'd; That Force of Nature now no more she sees, With which so well her Johnson knew to please. No Characters from Nature now we trace, All serve to empty Books of Common–Place: Our Modern Bards, who to Assemblies stray, Frequent the Park, the Visit or the Play, Regard not what Fools do, but what Wits say. Just they retail each Quibble to the Town, That surely must admire what is its own. Thus without Characters from Nature got, Without a Moral, and without a Plot, A dull Collection of insipid Jokes, Some stole from Conversation, some from Books,

The Miser

Provided Lords and Ladies give 'em vent, We call high Comedy, and seem content. But to regale, with other Sort of Fare, To Night our Author treats you with Moliere. Moliere, who Nature's inmost Secrets knew, Whose justest Pen, like Kneller's Pencil, drew. In whose strong Scenes all Characters are shewn, Not by low Jests, but Actions of their own. Happy our English Bard, if your Applause Grant h'as not injur'd the French Author's Cause. From that alone arises all his Fear; He must be safe, if he has sav'd Moliere.

EPILOGUE, Written by COLLY CIBBER, Esq; Spoke by Mrs. RAFTOR. [By Cibber, C.]

Our Author's sure bewitch'd! The senseless Rogue Insists no good Play wants an Epilogue. Suppose that true, said I, what's that to this? Is yours a good one? No, but Moliere's is, He cry'd, And Zounds! no Epilogue was tack'd to his. Besides, your modern Epilogues, said he, Are but Ragouts of Smut and Ribaldry. Where the false Jests are dwindled to so few, There's scarce one double Entendre left that's new. Nor wou'd I in that lovely Circle raise One Blush, to gain a thousand Coxcombs Praise. Then for the thread-bare Joke of Cit and Wit, Whose fore-known Rhyme is echo'd from the Pit, 'Till of their Laugh the Galleries are bit. Then to reproach the Criticks with Ill-nature, And charge their Malice to his stinging Satyr: And thence appealing to the nicer Boxes, Tho' talking Stuff might dash the Drury Doxes. If these, he cry'd, the choice Ingredients be For Epilogues, they shall have none for me. Lord, Sir, says I; the Gallery will so bawl; Let 'em, he cry'd, a bad one's worse than none at all. Madam, these Things than you I am more expert in, Nor do I see no Epilogue much hurt in, Zouns! when the Play is ended Drop the Curtain.

Dramatis Personæ.

Lovegold, the Miser, Mr. Griffin. Frederick, his Son, Mr. Bridgwater. Harriet, his Daughter, Mrs. Butler. Clermont, Mr. Mills, Jun. Mrs. Wisely, Mrs. Grace. Mariana, Mrs. Horton. Ramilie, Servant to Frederick, Mr. Cibber, Jun. Lappet, Maid to Harriet, Mrs. Raftor.

The Miser

Wheedle, Maid to Mariana, Mrs. Mullart. Mr. Decoy, a Broker, Mr. Oates. Mr. Furnish, an Upholsterer, Mr. Fielding. Mr. Sparkle, a Jeweller, Mr. Berry. Mr. Sattin, a Mercer, Mr. Grey. Mr. List, a Tailor, Mr. Oates. Cha. Bubbleboy, Mr. Mullart. A Lawyer, Mr. Mullart. Servants, &c. SCENE, LONDON.

# ACT I.

# SCENE I.

SCENE, Lovegold's House.

### LAPPET, RAMILIE.

Lappet.

I'll hear no more. Perfidious Fellow! have I for thee slighted so many good Matches? Have I for thee turn'd off Sir *Oliver's* Steward, and my Lord *Landy*'s Butler, and several others, thy betters, and all to be affronted in so publick a manner?

# *Ramil.* Do but hear me, Madam.

Lap.

If thou wou'dst have neglected me, was there no body else to dance a Minuet with but Mrs. *Susan Cross-stitch*, whom you know to be my utter Aversion?

### Ramil.

Curse on all Balls! henceforth I shall hate the Sound of a Violin.

Lap.

I have more Reason, I am sure, after having been the Jest of the whole Company; what must they think of me, when they see you, after I have countenanced your Addresses in the Eye of the World, take out another Lady before me?

#### Ramil.

I'm sure the World must think worse of me, did they imagine, Madam, I could prefer any other to you.

Lap.

None of your Wheedling, Sir, that won't do. If you ever hope to speak to me more, let me see you affront the little Minx in the next Assembly you meet her.

### Ramil.

I'll do it; and luckily, you know, we are to have a Ball at my Lord Landy's the first Night he lies out of Town,

### ACT I.

where I'll give your Revenge ample Satisfaction.

Lap.

On that Condition I pardon you this time; but if ever you do the like again

Ramil.

May I be banish'd for ever from those dear Eyes, and be turn'd out of the Family while you live in it.

# SCENE II.

Lappet, Wheedle, Ramilie.

Wheed. Dear Mrs. *Lappet*.

*Lap.* My Dear, this is extremely kind.

### Wheed.

It is what all your Acquaintance must do that expect to see you. It is in vain to hope for the Favour of a Visit.

Lap.

Nay, dear Creature, now you are barbarous, my young Lady has staid at home so much, I have not had one Moment to my self; the first time I had gone out, I am sure Madam wou'd have been to wait on Mrs. *Wheedle*.

Wheed.

My Lady has staid at home too pretty much lately; Oh! Mr. *Ramilie*, are you confin'd too? your Master does not stay at home, I am sure; he can find the Way to our House tho' you can't.

Ramil.

That is the only Happiness, Madam, I envy him; but Faith! I don't know how it is in this Parliament Time, ones whole Days are so taken up in the Court of *Request*, and ones Evenings at *Quadrille*, the Duce take me if I have seen one Opera since I came to Town. Oh! now I mention Operas, if you have a mind to see *Cato*, I believe I can steal my Master's Silver Ticket; for I know he is engaged to–morrow with some Gentlemen, who never leave their Bottle for Musick.

Lap. Ah, the Savages.

Wheed. No one can say that of you, Mr. Ramilie, you prefer Musick to every thing

*Ramil.* But the Ladies. *[Bell rings.]* So there's my Summons.

*Lap.* Well, but shall we never have a Party at *Quadrille* more?

Wheed.

SCENE II.

O, don't name it, I have worked my Eyes out since I saw you; for my Lady has taken a Whim of Flourishing all her old Cambrick Pinners and Handkerchiefs; in short, my Dear, no Journey–Woman Sempstress is half so much a Slave as I am.

*Lap.* Why do you stay with her?

## Wheed.

La, Child, where can one better ones self? all the Ladies of our Acquaintance are just the same. Besides, there are some little Things that make amends, my Lady has a whole Train of Admirers.

### Ramil.

That, Madam, is the only Circumstance wherein she has the Honour of resembling you. [Bell rings louder.] You hear, Madam, I am obliged to leave you [Bell rings.] So, so, so, would the Bell were in your Guts.

# SCENE III.

Lappet, Wheedle.

Lap.

Oh! *Wheedle*! I am quite sick of this Family, the old Gentleman grows more covetous every Day he lives. Every thing is under Lock and Key; I can scarce ask you to eat or drink.

Wheed.

Thank you, my Dear; but I have drank half a dozen Dishes of Chocolate already this Morning.

Lap.

Well; but, my Dear, I have a whole Budget of News to tell you. I have made some notable Discoveries.

Wheed.

Pray let us hear 'em. I have some Secrets of our Family too, which you shall know by and by. What a Pleasure there is in having a Friend to tell these Things to?

Lap.

You know, my Dear, last Summer my young Lady had the Misfortune to be overset in a Boat between

Richmond and *Twickenham*, and that a certain young Gentleman, plunging immediately into the Water, sav'd her Life at the Hazard of his own. Oh! I shall never forget the Figure she made at her return home, so wet, so draggled ha, ha, ha.

### Wheed.

Yes, my Dear, I know how all your fine Ladies look, when they are never so little disordered they have no need to be so vain of themselves.

### Lap.

You are no Stranger to my Master's Way of rewarding People; when the poor Gentleman brought Miss home, my Master meets 'em at the Door, and, without asking any Question, very civilly shuts it against him. Well, for a whole Fortnight afterwards, I was continually entertained with the young Spark's Bravery, and Galantry, and Generosity, and Beauty.

# Wheed.

I can easily guess; I suppose she was rather warmed than cool'd by the Water. These Mistresses of ours, for all their Pride, are made of just the same Flesh and Blood as we are.

# Lap.

About a Month ago my young Lady goes to the Play in an Undress, and takes me with her. We sat in *Burton*'s Box, where, as the Devil would have it, whom should we meet with but this very Gentleman: Her Blushes soon discovered to me who he was; in short, the Gentleman entertained her the whole Play, and I much mistake if ever she was so agreeably entertained in her Life. Well, as we were going out, a rude Fellow thrusts his Hand into my Lady's Bosom, upon which her Champion fell upon him, and did so maul him My Lady fainted away in my Arms; but as soon as she came to her self had you seen how she look'd on him. Ah! Sir, says she, in a mighty pretty Tone, sure, you were born for my Deliverance: He handed her into a Hackney Coach, and set us down at Home. From this Moment Letters began to fly on both Sides.

### Wheed.

And you took care to see the Post paid, I hope.

### Lap.

Never fear that and now what do you think we have contrived among us? We have got this very Gentleman into the House in the Quality of my Master's Clerk.

### Wheed.

Soh! here's fine billing, and cooing, I warrant; Miss is in a fine Condition.

### Lap.

Her Condition is pretty much as it was yet. How long it will continue so, I know not. I am making up my Matters as fast as I can; for this House holds not me after the Discovery.

### Wheed.

I think you have no great Reason to lament the Loss of a Place, where the Master keeps his own Keys.

Lap.

The Devil take the first Inventor of Locks, say I; but come, my Dear, there is one Key which I keep, and that, I believe, will furnish us with some Sweetmeats; so if you will walk in with me, I'll tell you a Secret which concerns your Family. It is in your Power, perhaps, to be serviceable to me; I hope, my Dear, you will keep these Secrets safe; for one would not have it known that one publishes all the Affairs of a Family, while one stays in it.

[Exeunt.

# SCENE IV.

# A Garden.

Clermont, Harriet.

Cler.

Why are you melancholy, my dear *Harriet*; do you repent that Promise of yours, which has made me the happiest of Mankind?

# Har.

You little know my Heart, if you can think it capable of repenting any thing I have done towards your Happiness; if I am melancholy, it is that I have it not in my Power to make you as happy as I would.

# Cler.

Thou art too bounteous. Every tender Word, from those dear Lips, lays Obligations on me I never can repay; but if to love, to doat on you more than Life it self, to watch your Eyes that I may obey your Wishes before you speak them, can discharge me from any Part of that vast Debt I owe you, I will be punctual in the Payment.

# Har.

It were ungenerous in me to doubt you, and when I think what you have done for me, believe me, I must think the Balance on your Side.

# Cler.

Generous Creature! and dost thou not for me hazard the eternal Anger of your Father, the Reproaches of your Family, the Censures of the World, who always blame the Conduct of that Person who sacrifices Interest to any Consideration.

# Har.

As for the Censures of the World, I despise them while I do not deserve them: Folly is forwarder to censure Wisdom, than Wisdom Folly. I were weak indeed not to embrace real Happiness, because the World does not call it so.

Cler.

But see, my Dearest, your Brother is come into the Garden.

Har.

Is it not safe, think you, to let him into our Secret?

# Cler.

You know, by outwardly humouring your Father, in railing against the Extravagance of young Men, I have brought him to look on me as his Enemy, it will be first proper to set him right in that Point. Besides, in managing the old Gentleman, I shall still be oblig'd to a Behaviour which the Impatience of his Temper may not bear; therefore I think it not adviseable to trust him; at least yet he will observe us. Adieu, my Heart's only Joy.

# Har.

Honest Creature! what Happiness may I propose in a Life with such a Husband? what is there in Grandeur to recompense the Loss of him? Parents chuse as often ill for us, as we for our selves. They are too apt to forget how seldom true Happiness lives in a Palace, or rides in a Coach and Six.

# SCENE V.

Frederick, Harriet.

Fred.

Dear *Harriet*, good morrow, I am glad to find you alone; for I have an Affair to impart to you, that I am ready to burst with.

Har.

SCENE V.

You know, Brother, I am a trusty Confident.

Fred.

As ever wore Petticoats; but this is an Affair of such Consequence

Har.

Or it were not worth your telling me.

# Fred.

Nor your telling again; in short you never could discover it, I could afford you ten Year to guess it in. I am you will laugh immoderately when you know it. I am it is impossible to tell you. In a word I am in Love.

Har.

In Love!

# Fred.

Violently, to Distraction: So much in Love, that without more Hopes than I at present see any Possibility of obtaining, I cannot live three Days.

Har.

And has this violent Distemper, pray, come upon you of a sudden?

Fred.

No, I have bred it a long Time. It hath been growing these several Weeks. I stifled it as long as I could; but it is now come to a Crisis, and I must either have the Woman, or you will have no Brother.

Har.

But who is this Woman? for you have conceal'd it so well, that I can't even guess.

Fred.

In the first place, she is a most intolerable Coquette.

Har.

That is a Description I shall never find her out by. There are so many of her Sisters, you might as well tell me the Colour of her Complexion.

Fred.

Secondly, she is almost eternally at Cards.

Har.

You must come to Particulars, I shall never discover your Mistress till you tell me more than that she is a Woman, and lives in this Town.

*Fred.* Her Fortune is very small.

*Har.* I find you are enumerating her Charms.

Fred.

Oh! I have only shewn you the Reverse; but were you to behold the Medal on the right Side, you would see

SCENE V.

Beauty, Wit, Genteelness, Politeness in a word, you would see Mariana.

# Har.

*Mariana*! ha, ha, you have started a Wild–goose Chase, indeed. But, if you could ever prevail on her, you may depend on it, it is an arrant Impossibility to prevail on my Father, and you may easily imagine what Success a disinherited Son may likely expect with a Woman of her Temper.

# Fred.

I know 'tis difficult, but nothing's impossible to Love, at least nothing's impossible to Woman; and therefore, if you and the ingenious Mrs. *Lappet* will but lay your Heads together in my Favour, I shall be far from despairing; and in Return, Sister, for this Kindness.

### Har.

And in Return, Brother, for this Kindness, you may perhaps have it in your Power to do me a Favour of pretty much the same Nature.

Love. [without] Rogue! Villain!

Har.

Soh! what's the matter now? what can have thrown my Father into this Passion?

Fred.

The Loss of an old Slipper, I suppose, or something of equal Consequence. Let us step aside into the next Walk, and talk more of our Affairs.

# SCENE VI.

Lovegold, Ramilie.

Love. Answer me not, Sirrah; but get you out of my House.

Ram.

Sir, I am your Son's Servant, and not yours, Sir; and I won't go out of the House, Sir, unless I am turn'd out by my proper Master, Sir.

Love.

Sirrah, I'll turn your Master out after you, like an extravagant Rascal as he is; he has no need of a Servant while he is in my House, and here he dresses out a Fellow at more Expence than a prudent Man might clothe a large Family at; it's plain enough what use he keeps you for; but I will have no Spy upon my Affairs, no Rascal continually prying into all my Actions, devouring all I have, and hunting about in every Corner to see what he may steal.

Ramil.

Steal! a likely thing, indeed, to steal from a Man who locks up every Thing he has, and stands Centry upon it Day and Night.

Love.

SCENE VI.

I'm all over in a Sweat, lest this Fellow shou'd suspect something of my Money: [Aside.] Hearkee, Rascal, come hither, I wou'd advise you not to run about the Town, and tell every Body you meet that I have Money hid

about the Town, and tell every Body you meet that I have Money hid.

Ramil.

Why, have you any Money hid, Sir?

Love.

No, Sirrah, I don't say I have; but you may raise such a Report, nevertheless.

Ramil.

'Tis equal to me whether you have Money hid or no, since I cannot find it.

Love.

D'ye mutter, Sirrah? Get you out of my House, I say; get you out this Instant.

*Ram.* Well, Sir, I am going.

*Love.* Come back; let me desire you to carry nothing away with you.

*Ram.* What should I carry?

Love.

That's what I wou'd see. These Boot–Sleeves were certainly intended to be the Receivers of stolen Goods, and I wish the Taylor had been hang'd who invented them. Turn your Pockets inside out, if you please, but you are too practised a Rogue to put any thing there. These damn'd Bags have had many a good thing in them, I warrant you.

Ram.

Give me my Bag, Sir, I am in the most Danger of being robb'd.

Love.

Come, come, be honest, and return what thou hast taken from me.

Ram.

Ay, Sir, that I could do with all my Heart, for I have taken nothing from you but some Boxes on the Ear.

*Love.* And hast thou really stolen nothing?

*Ram.* No really, Sir.

*Love.* Then get out of my House while 'tis all well, and go to the Devil.

*Ram.* Ay, any where from such an old covetous Curmudgeon.

*Love.* So, there's one Plague gone; now I will go pay a Visit to the dear Casket.

# SCENE VII.

Lovegold, Frederick, Harriet.

Love.

In short, I must find some safer Place to deposite those three thousand Guineas in, which I receiv'd Yesterday; three thousand Guineas are a Sum Oh Heavens! I have betray'd myself! my Passion has transported me to talk aloud, and I have been overheard. How now! What's the matter?

*Fred.* The Matter, Sir?

Love.

Yes, the Matter, Sir, I suppose you can repeat more of my Words than these; I suppose you have overheard

*Fred.* What, Sir?

*Love*. That.

*Fred*. Sir!

Love. What I was just now saying.

*Har.* Pardon me, Sir, we really did not.

Love.

Well, I see you did overhear something, and so I will tell you the whole: I was saying to myself, in this great scarcity of Money, what a Happiness it would be to have three thousand Guineas by one; I tell you this, that you might not misunderstand me, and imagine that I said I had three thousand Guineas!

*Fred.* We enter not into your Affairs, Sir.

*Love.* Ah! wou'd I had those three thousand Guineas!

*Fred.* In my Opinion

*Love.* It wou'd make my Affairs extremely easy.

# Fred.

Then it is very easily in your Power to raise 'em, Sir, that the whole World knows.

### Love.

I raise 'em! I raise three thousand Guineas easily! My Children are my greatest Enemies, and will, by their way of talking, and by the extravagant Expences they run into, be the Occasion that one of these Days somebody will cut my Throat, imagining me to be made up of nothing but Guineas.

## Fred.

What Expence, Sir, do I run into?

Love.

How have you the Assurance to ask me that, Sir? when, if one was but to pick those fine Feathers of yours off, from Head to Foot, one might purchase a very comfortable Annuity out of them: A Fellow, here, with a very good Fortune upon his back, wonders that he is call'd extravagant. In short, Sir, you must rob me to appear in this manner.

Fred. How, Sir! rob you?

Love.

Ay, rob me; or how cou'd you support this Extravagance?

### Fred.

Alas, Sir, there are fifty young Fellows, of my Acquaintance, that support greater Extravagancies, and no one knows how: Ah, Sir! there are ten thousand pretty ways of living in this Town, without robbing ones Father.

Love.

What Necessity is there for all that Lace on your Coat? and all bought at the first hand too, I warrant you. If you will be fine, is there not such a Place as *Monmouth–Street* in this Town, where a Man may buy a Suit for the third part of the Sum which his Taylor demands? And then, Periwigs! what need has a Man of Periwigs, when he may wear his own Hair? I dare swear a good Periwig can't cost less than fifteen or twenty Shillings. Heyday! what, are they making Signs to one another which shall pick my Pocket?

### Har.

My Brother and I, Sir, are disputing which shall speak to you first, for we have both an Affair of Consequence to mention to you.

### Love.

And I have an Affair of Consequence to mention to you both. Pray, Son, you who are a fine Gentleman, and converse much amongst the Ladies, what think you of a certain young Lady, called *Mariana*?

Fred. Mariana, Sir!

*Love.* Ay, what do you think of her?

*Fred.* Think of her, Sir! *Love.* Why do you repeat my Words? Ay, what do you think of her?

*Fred.* Why, I think her the most charming Woman in the World.

*Love.* Wou'd she not be a desirable Match?

*Fred.* So desirable, that, in my Opinion, her Husband will be the happiest of Mankind.

*Love.* Does she not promise to make a good Housewife?

*Fred.* Oh! the best Housewife upon Earth.

*Love.* Might not a Husband, think ye, live very easy and happy with her?

Fred. Doubtless, Sir.

Love.

There is one thing I'm a little afraid of, that is, that she has not quite as much Fortune as one might fairly expect.

# Fred.

Oh, Sir! consider but her Merit, and you may easily make an Abasement in her Fortune: For Heaven's sake, Sir, don't let that prevent your Design. Fortune is nothing in comparison with her Beauty and Merit.

Love.

Pardon me there; however there may be some Matters found, perhaps, to make up some little Deficiency; and if you would, to oblige your Father, retrench your Extravagancies on this Occasion, perhaps the Difference, in some time, might be made up.

Fred.

My dearest Father, I'll bid adieu to all Extravagance for ever.

Love.

Thou art a dutiful, good Boy; and since I find you have the same Sentiments with me, provided she can but make out a pretty tolerable Fortune, I am ev'n resolved to marry her.

*Fred.* Ha! you resolved to marry *Mariana*?

*Love*. Ay, to marry *Mariana*.

*Har.* Who, you, you, you?

SCENE VII.

*Love*. Yes, I, I, I.

Fred.

I beg you will pardon me, Sir, a sudden Diziness has seiz'd me, and I must beg leave to retire.

# SCENE VIII.

Lovegold, Harriet.

Love.

This, Daughter, is what I have resolv'd for myself; as for your Brother, I have a certain Widow in my Eye for him; and you, my Dear, shall marry our good Neighbour, Mr. *Spindle*.

*Har*. I marry Mr. *Spindle*!

*Love.* Yes; he is a prudent, wise Man, not much above Fifty, and has a great Fortune in the Funds.

*Har.* I thank you, my dear Papa, but I had rather not marry, if you please.

[Curtsying.

Love. [Mimicking her Curtsy.] I thank you, my good Daughter, but I had rather you shou'd marry him, if you please.

Har. Pardon me, dear Sir.

*Love*. Pardon me, dear Madam.

*Har.* Not all the Fathers upon Earth shall force me to it.

*Love.* Did ever Mortal hear a Girl talk in this manner to her Father?

Har.

Did ever Father attempt to marry his Daughter after such a manner? In short, Sir, I have ever been obedient to you; but as this Affair concerns my Happiness only, and not yours, I hope you will give me leave to consult my own Inclination.

*Love.* I wou'd not have you provoke me; I am resolv'd upon the Match.

# SCENE IX.

# Lovegold, Clermont, Harriet.

Cler.

Some People, Sir, upon Justice-Business, desire to speak with your Worship.

Love.

I can attend to no Business, this Girl has so perplex'd me. Hussy, you shall marry as I wou'd have you, or

# Cler.

Forgive my Interposing; dear Sir, what's the matter? Madam, let me intreat you not to put your Father into a Passion.

# Love.

*Clermont*, you are a prudent young Fellow. Here's a Baggage of a Daughter, who refuses the most advantageous Match that ever was offer'd, both to her and to me. A Man of a vast Estate offers to take her without a Portion.

# Cler.

Without a Portion! Consider, dear Madam, can you refuse a Gentleman who offers to take you without a Portion?

Love.

Ay, consider what that saves your Father.

Har.

Yes, but I consider what I am to suffer.

# Cler.

That's true, indeed; you will think on that, Sir. Tho' Money be the first thing to be considered in all Affairs of Life, yet some little Regard should be had in this Case to Inclination.

*Love.* Without a Portion.

Cler.

You are in the right, Sir, that decides the

thing at once: And yet, I know there are People, who, on this Occasion, object against a Disparity of Age and Temper, which too often make the married State utterly miserable.

*Love.* Without a Portion.

Cler.

Ah! there is no answering that. Who can oppose such a Reason as that? And yet there are several Parents, who study the Inclinations of their Children more than any other thing, that would by no means sacrifice them to Interest; and who esteem, as the very first Article of Marriage, that happy Union of Affections, which is the Foundation of every Blessing attending on a married State and who

Love.

# Without a Portion.

# Cler.

Very true; that stops your Mouth at once Without a Portion! Where is the Person who can find an Argument against that?

# Love.

Ha! is not that the barking of a Dog? Some Villains are in search of my Money. Don't stir from hence, I'll return in an Instant.

# Cler.

My dearest Harriet, how shall I express the Agony I am in on your account?

# Har.

Be not too much alarm'd, since you may depend on my Resolution. It may be in the Power of Fortune to delay our Happiness, but no Power shall force me to destroy your Hopes by any other Match.

*Cler.* Thou kindest, lovely Creature.

Love.

Thank Heaven, it was nothing but my Fear.

Cler.

Yes, a Daughter must obey her Father; she is not to consider the Shape, or the Air, or the Age of a Husband: But when a Man offers to take her without a Portion, she is to have him let him be what he will.

*Love*. Admirably well said, indeed.

Cler.

Madam, I ask your Pardon if my Love for your self and your Family carries me a little too far; be under no Concern, I dare swear I shall bring her to it.

# [To Lovegold.

Love.

Do, do, I'll go in and see what these People want with me. Give her a little more now, while she's warm, you will be time enough to draw the Warrant.

Cler.

When a Lover offers, Madam, to take a Daughter without a Portion, one shou'd enquire no farther; every thing is contain'd in that one Article, and, without a Portion, supplies the Want of Beauty, Youth, Family, Wisdom, Honour, and Honesty.

Love. Gloriously said! Spoke like an Oracle!

Cler.

So, once more we are alone together; believe me, this is a most painful Hypocrisy, it tortures me to oppose your

# SCENE IX.

Opinion, tho' I am not in earnest, nor suspected by you of being so. Oh *Harriet*! how is the noble Passion of Love abus'd by vulgar Souls, who are incapable of tasting its Delicacies. When Love is great as mine,

None can its Pleasures, or its Pains declare; We can but feel how exquisite they are. [*Exeunt*.

# ACT II.

# SCENE I.

### SCENE continues.

Frederick, Ramilie.

Fred.

What is the Reason, Sirrah, you have been out of the way, when I gave you Orders to stay here?

Ramil.

Yes, Sir, and here did I stay, according to your Orders, 'till your good Father turn'd me out; and it is, Sir, at the extreme Hazard of a Cudgel that I return back again.

Fred.

Well, Sir, and what Answer have you brought, touching the Money?

Ramil.

Ah, Sir! it is a terrible thing to borrow Money; a Man must have dealt with the Devil, to deal ith a Scrivener.

*Fred.* Then it won't do, I suppose.

Ramil.

Pardon me, Sir, Mr. *Decoy*, the Broker, is a most industrious Person; he says he has done every thing in his Power to serve you; for he has taken a particular Fancy to your Honour.

Fred.

So then, I shall have the Five Hundred, shall I?

Ramil.

Yes, Sir, but there are some trifling Conditions which your Honour must submit to, before the Affair can be finished.

Fred.

Did he bring you to the Speech of the Person that is to lend the Money?

Ramil.

Ah, Sir! things are not managed in that manner, he takes more care to conceal himself than you do; there are greater Mysteries in these Matters than you imagine; why, he wou'd not so much as tell me the Lender's Name;

and he is to bring him today to talk with you in some third Person's House, to learn from your own Mouth the Particulars of your Estate and Family; I dare swear the very Name of your Father will make all things easy.

## Fred.

Chiefly the Death of my Mother, whose Jointure no one can hinder me of.

### Ramil.

Here, Sir, I have brought the Articles; Mr. *Decoy* told me he took 'em from the Mouth of the Person himself. Your Honour will find them extremely reasonable the Broker was forc'd to stickle hard to get such good ones: In the first place, the Lender is to see all his Securities; and the Borrower must be of Age, and Heir apparent to a large Estate, without Flaw in the Title, and entirely free from all Incumbrance; and that the Lender may run as little Risque as possible, the Borrower must insure his Life for the Sum lent; if he be an Officer in the Army, he is to make over his whole Pay, for the Payment of both Principal and Interest, which, that the Lender may not burden his Conscience with any Scruples, is to be no more than 30 *per Cent*.

*Fred.* Oh, the conscientious Rascal!

### Ramil.

But as the said Lender has not by him, at present, the Sum demanded; and that, to oblige the Borrower, he is himself forc'd to borrow of another,

at the rate of 4 *per Cent*. he thinks it but reasonable, that the first Borrower, over and above the 30 *per Cent*. aforesaid, shall also pay this 4 *per Cent*. since it is for his Service only that this Sum is borrowed.

### Fred.

Oh the Devil! What a Jew is here!

### Ramil.

You know, Sir, what you have to do he can't oblige you to these Terms.

### Fred.

Nor can I oblige him to lend me the Money without them; and you know that I must have, let the Conditions be what they will.

#### Ram.

Ay, Sir, why that was what I told him.

### Fred.

Did you so, Rascal? No wonder he insists on such Conditions, if you laid open my Necessities to him.

### Ram.

Alas! Sir, I only told it to the Broker, who is your Friend, and has your Interest very much at heart.

### Fred.

Well; is this all, or are there any more reasonable Articles?

### Ramil.

Of the Five Hundred Pounds required, the Lender can pay down, in Cash, no more than Four Hundred; and for the rest the Borrower must take in Goods, of which here follows the Catalogue.

*Fred.* What, in the Devil's Name, is the Meaning of all this?

# Ramil.

*Imprimis*, One large yellow Camlet Bed, lin'd with Sattin, very little eaten by the Moths, and wanting only one Curtain. Six stuft Chairs of the same, a little torn, and the Frames Worm–eaten, otherwise not in the least the worse for wearing. One large Peer–Glass, with only one Crack in the middle. One Suit of Tapestry–Hangings, in which are curiously wrought the Loves of *Mars* and *Venus*, *Venus* and *Adonis*, *Cupid* and *Psyche*, with many other amorous Stories, which make the Hangings very proper for a Bed–Chamber.

*Fred.* What the Devil is here!

# Ram.

*Item*, One Suit of Drugget, with Silver Buttons, the Buttons only the worse for wearing. *Item*, Two Muskets, one of which only wants the Lock. One large

Silver Watch, with *Tompion*'s Name to it. One Snuff–Box, with a Picture in it, bought at Mr. *Deard*'s, a proper Present for a Mistress. Five Pictures without Frames; if not Originals, all Copies by good Hands; and one fine Frame without a Picture.

*Fred.* Oons! what Use have I for all this?

# Ramil.

Several valuable Books; amongst which are all the Journals printed for these five Years last past, handsomly Bound and Letter'd. The whole Works in Divinity of

Fred.

Read no more: Confound the curst Extortioner; I shall pay 100 per Cent.

# Ramil.

Ah, Sir! I wish your Honour would consider of it in time.

# Fred.

I must have Money: To what Straits are we reduc'd by the curst Avarice of Fathers! Well may we wish them dead, when their Death is the only Introduction to our Living.

# Ramil.

Such a Father as yours, Sir, is enough to make one do something more than wish him dead. For my part, I have never had any Inclinations towards Hanging; and, I thank Heaven, I have lived to see whole Sets of my Companions swing out of the World, while I have had Address enough to quit all manner of Galantries the Moment I smelt the Halter; I have always had an utter Aversion to the smell of Hemp; but this Rogue of a Father of yours, Sir Sir, I ask your Pardon has so provok'd me, that I have often wish'd to rob him, and rob him I shall in the end, that's certain.

# Fred.

Give me that Paper, that I may consider a little these moderate Articles.

# SCENE II.

# Lovegold, Decoy, Ramilie, Frederick.

### Decoy.

In short, Sir, he is a very extravagant young Fellow, and so press'd by his Necessities, that you may bring him to what Terms you please.

### Love.

But do you think, Mr. *Decoy*, there is no danger? Do you know the Name, the Family, and the Estate of the Borrower?

### Decoy.

No, I cannot give you any perfect Information yet, for it was by the greatest Accident in the World that he was recommended to me; but you will learn all these from his own Lips; and his Man assur'd me you wou'd make no Difficulty, the Moment you knew the Name of his Father; all that I can tell you is, that his Servant says the old Gentleman is extremely rich, he call'd him a covetous old Rascal.

### Love.

Ay, that is the Name which these Spendthrifts, and the Rogues, their Servants, give to all honest prudent Men who know the World, and the Value of their Money.

### Decoy.

This young Gentleman is an only Son, and is so little afraid of any future Competitors, that he offers to be bound, if you insist on it, that his Father shall die within these eight Months.

### Love.

Ay, there's something in that; I believe then I shall let him have the Money. Charity, Mr. *Decoy*, Charity obliges us to serve our Neighbour, I say, when we are no Losers by so doing.

# Decoy.

Very true, indeed.

### Ramil.

Heyday! what can be the Meaning of this? our Broker talking with the old Gentleman!

### Decoy.

So, Gentlemen! I see you are in great Haste; but who told you, pray, that this was the Lender? I assure you, Sir, I neither discover'd your Name, nor your House: But, however, there is no great harm done, they are People of Discretion, so you may freely transact the Affair now.

Love. How!

### Decoy.

This, Sir, is the Gentleman that wants to borrow the Five Hundred Pounds I mentioned to you.

### Love.

How! Rascal, is it you that abandon your self to these intolerable Extravagancies?

# SCENE II.

Fred.

I must even stand buff, and out-face him. [Aside.] And is it you, Father, that disgrace yourself by these scandalous Extortions?

# [Ramilie and Decoy sneak off.

Love. Is it you that would ruin your self, by taking up, Money at such Interest?

*Fred.* Is it you that wou'd enrich your self, by lending at such Interest?

*Love.* How dare you, after this, appear before my Face?

*Fred.* How dare you, after this, appear before the Face of the World?

*Love.* Get you out of my Sight, Villain; get out of my Sight.

*Fred.* Sir, I go; but give me leave to say

Love.

I'll not hear a Word. I'll prevent your attempting any thing of this nature for the future. Get out of my Sight, Villain. I am not sorry for this Accident; it will make me henceforth keep a stricter Eye over his Accident.

[Exeunt.

# SCENE III,

An Apartment in Lovegold's House,

Harriet, Mariana.

Mar.

Nay, *Harriet*, you must excuse me; for of all People upon Earth, you are my greatest Favourite: But I have had such an intolerable Cold, Child, that it is a Miracle I have recover'd; for, my Dear, wou'd you think I have had no less than three Doctors?

Har.

Nay, then it is a Miracle you recover'd, indeed.

Mar.

Oh! Child, Doctors will never do me any harm, for I never take any thing they prescribe: I don't know how it is, when one's ill one can't help sending for them; and you know, my Dear, my Mama loves Physick better than she

does any thing, but Cards.

# Har.

Were I to take as much of Cards, as you do, I don't know which I shou'd nauseate most.

Mar.

Oh! Child, you are quite a Tramontane: I must bring you to like dear *Spadille*. I protest, *Harriet*, if you wou'd take my Advice in some things, you wou'd be the most agreeable Creature in the World.

# Har.

Nay, my Dear, I am in a fair way of being obliged to obey your Commands.

Mar.

That wou'd be the happiest thing in the World for you; and I dare swear you wou'd like them extremely, for they wou'd be exactly opposite to every Command of your Father's.

Har.

By that, now, one wou'd think you were married already.

Mar.

Married, my Dear!

Har.

Oh, I can tell you of such a Conquest! you will have such a Lover within these Four-and-twenty Hours!

# Mar.

I am glad you have given me timely Notice of it, that I may turn off somebody to make room for him; but I believe I have listed him already. Oh *Harriet*! I have been so plagu'd, so pester'd, so fatigu'd, since I saw you with that dear Creature, your Brother In short, Child, he has made arrant downright Love to me; if my Heart had not been harder than Adamant it self, I had been your Sister by this time.

Har.

And if your Heart be not harder than Adamant, you will be in a fair way of being my Mother shortly; for my good Father has this very Day declared such a Passion for you

Mar.

Your Father!

Har.

Ay, my Dear. What say you to a comely old Gentleman, of not much above Threescore, that loves you so violently? I dare swear he will be constant to you all his Days.

Mar.

Ha, ha, ha! I shall die. Ha, ha, ha! You extravagant Creature, how cou'd you throw away all this Jest at once; it wou'd have furnish'd a prudent Person with an Annuity of Laughter for Life. Oh! I am charm'd with my Conquest; I am quite in Love with him already. I never had a Lover yet above half his Age.

Har.

Lappet and I have laid a delightful Plot, if you will but come into it, and counterfeit an Affection for him.

# Mar.

Why, Child, I have a real Affection for him: Oh! methinks I see you on your Knees already Pray, Mama, please to give me your Blessing. Oh! I

see my loving Bridegroom in his three–fold Nightcap, his Flannel Shirt; methinks I see him approach me with all the lovely Gravity of Age; I hear him whisper charming Sentences of Morality in my Ear, more instructive than all my Grandmother e'er taught me. Oh! I smell him sweeter; oh! sweeter than even Hartshorn itself. Ha, ha, ha! see, Child, how beautiful a fond Imagination can paint a Lover: Would not any one think now we had been a happy Couple together, Heaven knows how long?

# Har.

Well, you dear mad Creature, but do you think you can maintain any of this Fondness to his Face? for I know some Women, who speak very fondly of a Husband to other People, but never say one civil thing to the Man himself.

# Mar.

Oh! never fear it; one can't indeed bring one's self to be civil to a young Lover; but as for these old Fellows, I think one may play as harmlesly with them as with one another. Young Fellows are perfect Bears, and must be kept at a distance; the old ones are mere Lap–Dogs, and when they have agreeable Tricks with them, one is equally fond of both.

# Har.

Well, but now I hope you will give me leave to speak a Word or two seriously, in favour of my poor Brother.

# Mar.

Oh! I shall hate you if you are serious: Auh! see what your wicked Words have occasion'd; I protest you are a Conjurer, and certainly deal with the Devil.

# SCENE IV.

Frederick, Mariana, Harriet.

Har.

Oh, Brother! I am glad you are come to plead your own Cause; I have been your Solicitor in your Absence.

Fred.

I am afraid, like other Clients, I shall plead much worse for my self, than my Advocate has done.

Mar.

Persons, who have a bad Cause, should have very artful Counsel.

Fred.

When the Judge is determin'd against us all, Art will prove of no Effect.

Mar.

Why then, truly, Sir, in so terrible a Situation, I think the sooner you give up the Cause the better.

Fred.

No, Madam, I am resolv'd to persevere; for, when one's whole Happiness is already at stake, I see nothing more can be hazarded in the Pursuit. It might be, perhaps, a Person's Interest to give up a Cause, wherein Part of his

Fortune was concern'd; but, when the Dispute is about the whole, he can never lose by persevering.

### Mar.

Do you hear him, *Harriet*? I fancy this Brother of yours would have made a most excellent Lawyer. I protest, when he is my Son–in–law, I'll even send him to the *Temple*: Tho' he begins a little late, yet Diligence may bring him to be a great Man.

### Fred.

I hope, Madam, Diligence may succeed in Love, as well as Law; sure, *Mariana* is not a more crabbed Study than *Coke* upon *Littleton*?

### Mar.

Oh! the Wretch, he has quite suffocated me with his Comparison; I must have a little Air: Dear *Harriet*, let us walk in the Garden.

### Fred.

I hope, Madam, I have your leave to attend you.

#### Mar.

My Leave! No, indeed, you have no Leave of mine; but if you will follow me, I know no way to hinder you.

Har.

Ah, Brother! I wish you had no greater Enemy in this Affair than your Mistress.

# SCENE V.

### Ramilie, Lappet.

Lap.

This was, indeed, a most unlucky Accident; however, I dare lay a Wager I shall succeed better with him, and get some of those Guineas you would have borrowed.

#### Ramil.

I am not, Madam, now to learn Mrs. Lappet's Dexterity; but if you get any thing out of him,

I shall think you a Match for the Devil. Sooner than to extract Gold from him, I wou'd engage to extract Religion from a Hypocrite, Honesty from a Lawyer, Health from a Physician, Sincerity from a Courtier, or Modesty from a Poet. I think, my Dear, you have liv'd long enough in this House to know that Gold is a very dear Commodity here.

### Lap.

Ah! but there are some certain Services which will squeeze it out of the closest Hands; there is one Trade, which, I thank Heaven, I am no Stranger to, wherein all Men are Dabblers; and he who will scarce afford himself either Meat or Clothes, will still pay for the Commodities I deal in.

### Ramil.

Your humble Servant, Madam; I find you don't know our good Master yet; there is not a Woman in the World, who loves to hear her pretty self talk never so much, but you may easier shut her Mouth, than open his Hands; as for Thanks, Praises, and Promises, no Courtier upon Earth is more liberal of them; but for Money, the Devil a Penny: There's nothing so dry as his Caresses; and there is no Husband, who hates the Word *Wife* half so much as

he does the Word *Give*; instead of saying, I give you a Good-morrow, he always says, I lend you a Good-morrow.

Lap.

Ah! Sir, let me alone to drain a Man; I have the Secret to open his Heart, and his Purse too.

### Ramil.

I defy you to drain the Man we talk of, of his Money; he loves that more than any thing you can procure him in exchange; the very Sight of a Dun throws him into Convulsions; 'tis touching him in the only sensible Part; 'tis piercing his Heart, tearing out his Vitals, to ask him for a Farthing: But here he is, and if you get a Shilling out of him, I'll marry you without any other Fortune.

# SCENE VI.

Lovegold, Lappet.

Love. All's well hitherto; my dear Money is safe. Is it you, *Lappet* ?

Lap.

I shou'd rather ask if it be you, Sir: why you look so young and vigorous.

*Love*. Do I, do I?

Lap.

Why, you grow younger and younger every Day, Sir; you never look'd half so young in your Life, Sir, as you do now. Why, Sir, I know fifty young Fellows of five and twenty, that are older than you are.

Love.

That may be, that may be, *Lappet*, considering the Lives they lead, and yet I am a good ten Years above fifty.

Lap.

Well, and what's ten Years above fifty? 'tis the very Flower of a Man's Age. Why, Sir, you are now in the very Prime of your Life.

### Love.

Very true, that's very true, as to Understanding; but I am afraid, cou'd I take off twenty Years, it would do me no Harm with the Ladies, *Lappet*. How goes on our Affair with *Mariana*? Have you mention'd any thing about what her Mother can give her? For, now–a–days, no Body marries a Woman unless she bring something with her, besides a Petticoat.

Lap.

Sir! why, Sir, this young Lady will be worth you as good a thousand Pound a Year as ever was told.

*Love.* How, a thousand Pound a Year!

Lap.

SCENE VI.

Yes, Sir; there's in the first Place the Article of a Table, she has a very little Stomach, she does not eat above an Ounce in a Fortnight, and then as to the Quality of what she eats, you'll have no need of a *French* Cook upon her Account; as for Sweetmeats, she mortally hates them. So there is the Article of Deserts wiped off all at once you'll have no need of a Confectioner, who wou'd be eternally bringing in Bills for Preserves, Conserves, Biscakes, Comfits, and Jellies, of which half a dozen Ladies wou'd swallow you ten Pounds worth at a Meal; this, I think, we may very moderately reckon at two hundred Pound a Year, at least. *Item*, for Clothes, she has been bred up at such a Plainness in them, that shou'd we allow but for three Birth–Night Suits a Year saved, which are the least a Town Lady wou'd expect, there go a good two hundred Pounds a Year more; for Jewels (of which she hates the very Sight) the yearly Interest of what you must lay out in them wou'd amount to one hundred Pounds. Lastly, she has an utter Detestation for Play, at which I have known several moderate Ladies lose a good two thousand Pounds a Year; now let us take only the fourth Part of that, which amounts to five hundred, to which, if we add two hundred Pound on the Table Account, two hundred Pound in Clothes, and one hundred Pound in Jewels, there is, Sir, your thousand Pound a Year in hard Money.

### Love.

Ay, ay, these are pretty Things, it must be confess'd, very pretty Things; but there's nothing real in 'em.

### Lap.

How, Sir, is it not something real to bring you, in Marriage, a vast Store of Sobriety, the Inheritance of a great Love for Simplicity of Dress, and a vast acquired Fund of Hatred for Play.

### Love.

This is downright Railery, *Lappet*, to make me up a Fortune out of the Expences she won't put me to; I assure you, Madam, I shall give no Acquittance for what I have not receiv'd; in short, *Lappet*, I must touch, touch, something real.

### Lap.

Never fear, you shall touch something real: I have heard them talk of a certain Country, where she has a very pretty Freehold, which shall be put into your Hands.

### Love.

Nay, if it were a Copy-hold I shou'd be glad to touch it; but there is another thing that disturbs me. You know this Girl is young, and young People generally love one another's Company; it would ill agree, with a Person of my Temper, to keep an Assembly for all the young Rakes and flaunting Girls in Town.

### Lap.

Ah, Sir, how little do you know of her! this is another Particularity that I had to tell you of, she has a most terrible Aversion for all young People, and loves none but Persons of your Years. I wou'd advise you, above all Things, to take care not to appear too young. She insists on sixty at least. She says that fifty six Years are not able to content her.

### Love.

This Humour is a little strange, methinks.

### Lap.

She carries it farther, Sir, than can be imagin'd, she has in her Chamber several Pictures; but what do you think they are? None of your smockfac'd young Fellows, your *Adonis*'s, your *Cephalus* 's, your *Paris*'s, and your *Apollo*'s. No, Sir, you see nothing there, but your handsom Figures of *Saturn*, King *Priam*, Old *Nestor*, and good Father *Anchises* upon his Son's Shoulders.

# Love.

Admirable, this is more than I cou'd have hoped; to say the truth, had I been a Woman I shou'd never have lov'd young Fellows.

## Lap.

I believe you; pretty sort of stuff, indeed, to be in love with, your young Fellows; pretty Masters, indeed, with their fine Complexions, and their fine Feathers: Now, I shou'd be glad to taste the Savour that is in any of them.

## Love.

And do you really think me pretty tolerable?

### Lap.

Tolerable! you are ravishing: If your Picture was drawn by a good Hand, Sir, it wou'd be invaluable! turn about a little, if you please; there, what can be more charming? let me see you walk, there's a Person for you, tall, straight, free and degagee; why, Sir, you have no Fault about you.

### Love.

Not many, hem, hem, not many, I thank Heaven; only a few Rheumatick Pains now and then, and a small Catarrhe that seizes me sometimes.

### Lap.

Ah, Sir, that's nothing, your Catarrhe sits very well upon you, and you cough with a very good Grace.

### Love.

But tell me, what does Mariana say of my Person?

### Lap.

She has a particular Pleasure in talking of it; and I assure you, Sir, I have not been backward on all such Occasions to blazon forth your Merit, and to make her sensible how advantageous a Match you will be to her.

### Love.

You did very well, and I am obliged to you.

### Lap.

But, Sir, I have a small Favour to ask of you, I have a Law-suit depending, which I am on the very Brink of losing for want of a little Money. *[He looks Gravely.]* And you could easily procure my Success, if you had the least Friendship for me: You can't imagine, Sir, the Pleasure she takes in talking of you. *[He looks pleas'd.]* Ah! how you will delight her, how your venerable Mien will charm her. She will never be able to withstand you. But indeed, Sir, this Law-suit will be of a terrible Consequence to me. *[He looks grave again.]* I am ruin'd, if I lose it, which a very small Matter might prevent. Ah! Sir, had you but seen the Raptures with which she has heard me talk of you, *[He resumes his Gayety.]* how Pleasure sparkled in her Eyes at the recital of your good Qualities. In short, to discover a Secret to you, which I promis'd to conceal, I have work'd up her Imagination, 'till she is downright impatient of having the Match concluded.

# Love.

Lappet, you have acted a very friendly Part, and I own that I have all the Obligations in the World to you.

# Lap.

I beg you would give me this little Assistance, Sir; [He looks serious.] it will set me on my Feet, and I shall be eternally obliged to you.

*Love.* Farewel, I'll go and finish my Dispatches.

Lap.

I assure you, Sir, you cou'd never assist me in a greater Necessity.

Love.

I must go give some Orders about a particular Affair.

Lap.

I would not importune you, Sir, if I was not forc'd by the last Extremity.

Love.

I expect the Tailor about turning my Coat: Don't you think this Coat will look well enough turn'd, and with new Buttons, for a Wedding–Suit?

Lap.

For Pity sake, Sir, don't refuse me this small Favour; I shall be undone, indeed, Sir. If it were but so small a Matter as ten Pound, Sir.

*Love.* I think I hear the Tailor's Voice.

Lap.

If it were but five Pound, Sir, but three Pound, Sir; nay, Sir, a single Guinea wou'd be of Service for a Day or two.

[As he offers to go out on either side she intercepts him.

Love.

I must go, I can't stay; hark there, somebody calls me. I'm very much oblig'd to you, indeed, I am very much oblig'd to you.

Lap.

Go to the Gallows, to the Devil, like a covetous good for nothing Villain, as you are. *Ramilie* is in the right; however, I shall not quit the Affair; for tho' I get nothing out of him, I am sure of my Reward from the other Side.

Fools only to one Party will confide, Good Politicians will both Parties guide, And, if one fails, they're fee'd on t'other Side.

# ACT III.

# SCENE I.

SCENE continues.

Harriet, Frederick, Clermont.

Fred.

I think, Sir, you have given my Sister a very substantial Proof of your Affection. I am sorry you could have had such a Suspicion of me, as to imagine I could have been an Enemy to one, who has approv'd himself a Gentleman and a Lover.

Cler.

If any thing, Sir, could add to my Misfortunes, it would be to be thus oblig'd, without having any Prospect of repaying the Obligation.

Fred.

Every Word you speak is a farther Conviction to me, that you are what you have declar'd yourself; for there is something in a generous Education, which it is impossible for Persons, who want that Happiness, to counterfeit; therefore henceforth I beg you to believe me sincerely your Friend.

Har.

Come, come, pray a Truce with your Compliments; for I hear my Father's Cough coming this way.

# SCENE II.

Lovegold, Frederick, Clermont, Harriet.

Love.

So, so, this is just as I would have it; let me tell you, Children, this is a prudent young Man, and you cannot converse too much with him. He will teach you, Sir, for all you hold your Head so high, better Sense then to borrow Money at fifty *per Cent*: and you, Madam, I dare say he will infuse good Things into you too, if you will but hearken to him.

Fred.

While you live, Sir, we shall want no other Instructor.

Love.

Come hither, *Harriet*; you know to-night I have invited our Friend and Neighbour Mr. *Spindle*. Now I intend to take this Opportunity of saving the Expence of another Entertainment, by inviting *Mariana* and her Mother; for, I observe, that take what care one will, there is always more Victuals provided on these Occasions than is eat; and an additional Guest makes no additional Expence.

Cler.

Very true, Sir; besides, tho' they were to rise hungry, no one ever calls for more at another Person's Table.

Love.

Right, honest *Clermont*, and to rise with an Appetite is one of the wholesomest Things in the World. *Harriet*, I would have you go immediately, and carry the Invitation; you may walk thither, and they will bring you back in a Coach.

*Har*. I shall obey you, Sir.

*Love.* Go, that's my good Girl; and you, Sir, I desire you would behave yourself civilly at Supper.

Fred.

Why should you suspect me, Sir?

Love.

I know, Sir, with what Eyes such Sparks as you look upon a Mother–in–law; but if you hope for my Forgiveness of your late Exploit, I would advise you to behave to her in the most affectionate Manner imaginable.

Fred.

I cannot promise, Sir, to be overjoy'd at her being my Mother–in–law; but this I will promise you I will be as civil to her as you could wish. I will behold her with as much Affection as you can desire me; that is an Article upon which you may be sure of a most punctual Obedience.

*Love.* That, I think, is the least I can expect.

Fred.

Sir, you shall have no Reason to complain.

# SCENE III.

Lovegold, Clermont, James.

James. Did you send for me, Sir?

*Love.* Where have you been? for I have wanted you above an Hour.

*James.* Whom, Sir, did you want? your Coachman, or your Cook? for I am both one and t'other.

*Love*. I want my Cook, Sir.

James.

I thought, indeed, it was not your Coachman; for you have had no great Occasion for him since your last Pair of Geldings were starv'd But your Cook, Sir, shall wait on you in an Instant.

[Puts off his Coachman's Great Coat, and appears as a Cook.

Love. What's the Meaning of this Folly?

James. I am ready for your Commands, Sir.

SCENE III.

Love.

I am engag'd this Evening to give a Supper.

### James.

A Supper, Sir! I have not heard the Word this half Year. I have indeed now and then heard of such a thing as a Dinner; but for a Supper I have not dress'd one so long, that I am afraid my Hand is out.

## Love.

Leave off your saucy Jesting, Sirrah, and see that you provide me a good Supper.

### James.

That may be done, Sir, with a good deal of Money.

### Love.

What, is the Devil in you? always Money. Can you say nothing else, but Money, Money, Money? All my Servants, my Children, my Relations, can pronounce no other Word than Money.

### Cler.

I never heard so ridiculous an Answer; here's a Miracle for you indeed, to make a good Supper with a good deal of Money; is there any thing so easy? Is there any one who can't do it? Wou'd a Man shew himself to be a good Cook, he must make a good Supper out of a little Money.

### James.

I wish you would be so good, Sir, as to shew us that Art, and take my Office of Cook upon yourself.

Love.

Peace, Sirrah, and tell me what we can have.

### James.

There's a Gentleman, Sir, who can furnish you out a good Supper with a little Money.

*Love.* Answer me yourself.

### James.

Why, Sir, how many will there be at Table?

### Love.

About eight or ten; but I will have a Supper dress'd but for eight: for if there be enough for eight, there is enough for ten.

### James.

Suppose, Sir, you have at one End of the Table a good handsome Soop; at the other, a fine *Westphalia* Ham and Chickens; on one Side a Fillet of Veal roasted; and on the other a Turkey, or rather a Bustard; which, I believe, may be bought for a Guinea, or thereabouts.

### Love.

What, is the Fellow providing an Entertainment for my Lord Mayor, and the Court of Aldermen?

### James.

Then, Sir; for the second Course, a Leash of Pheasants, a Leash of fat Poulards, half a dozen Partridges, one

# SCENE III.
dozen of Quails, two dozen of Ortolans, three dozen

*Love.* [*Putting his Hand before Jame's Mouth.*] Ah, Villain! you are eating up all I am worth.

James. Then a Ragout

Love. [Stopping his Mouth again.] Hold your extravagant Tongue, Sirrah.

Cler.

Have you a mind to burst them all? Has my Master invited People to cram 'em to Death? Or do you think his Friends have a mind to eat him up at one Supper? Such Servants as you, Mr. *James*, should be often reminded of that excellent Saying of a very wise Man, *We must eat to live, and not live to eat*.

Love.

Excellently well said, indeed; it is the finest Sentence I ever heard in my Life. *We must live to eat, and not eat to* No that is not it, how did you say?

Cler.

That we must eat to live, and not live to eat.

Love.

Extremely fine; pray, write them out for me: for I am resolv'd to have 'em done in Letters of Gold, or Black and White rather, over my Hall Chimney.

James.

You have no need to do any more, Sir; People talk enough of you already.

Love.

Pray, Sir; what do People say of me?

James.

Ah, Sir, if I could but be assur'd that you would not be angry with me.

Love.

Not at all; so far from it, you will very much oblige me; for I am always very glad to hear what the World says of me.

#### James.

Well, Sir; then since you will have it, I will tell you freely, That they make a Jest of you every where; nay, of your very Servants upon your Account. They make ten thousand Stories of you; one says, that you have always a Quarrel ready with your Servants at Quarter–Day, or when they leave you, in order to find an Excuse to give them nothing. Another says, that you were taken one Night stealing your own Oats from your own Horses; for which your Coachman very handsomely belabour'd your Back. In a word, Sir, one can go no where, where you are not the By–word; you are the Laughing–stock of all the World; and you are never mention'd but by the Names of Covetous, Scraping, Stingy

*Love.* Impertinent, impudent Rascal; beat him for me, *Clermont*.

Cler.

Are not you asham'd, Mr. James, to give your Master this Language?

James.

What's that to you, Sir. I fancy this Fellow's a Coward; if he be, I will handle him.

Cler.

It does not become a Servant to use such Language to his Master.

James.

Who taught you, Sir, what becomes? If you trouble your Head with my Business, I shall thresh your Jacket for you; if I once take a Stick in Hand, I shall teach you to hold your Tongue for the future, I believe; if you offer to say another Word to me, I'll break your Head for you.

[Drives Clermont to the farther End of the Stage.

Cler. How, Rascal! break my Head!

James. I did not say, I'd break your Head.

[Clermont drives him back again.

Cler. Do you know, Sirrah, that I shall break yours for this Impudence.

*James.* I hope not, Sir; I give you no Offence, Sir.

*Cler.* That I shall shew you the Difference between us.

James. Ha, ha, ha, Sir, I was but in Jest.

*Cler.* Then, I shall warn you to forbear these Jests for the future.

[Kicks him off the Stage.

James. Nay, Sir, can't you take a Jest? Why, I was but in Jest all the while. *Love.* How happy am I in such a Clerk.

Cler.

You may leave the Ordering of the Supper to me, Sir; I will take care of that.

Love.

Do so; see and provide something to cloy their Stomachs; let there be two great Dishes of Soup–Meagre, a good large Suet Pudding, some dainty fat Pork–Pye or Pasty, a fine small Breast of Mutton, not too fat; a Salad, and a Dish of Artichoaks, which will make Plenty and Variety enough.

Cler.

I shall take a particular care, Sir, to provide every thing to your Satisfaction.

Love.

But be sure there be Plenty of Soup, be sure of that. This is a most excellent young Fellow; but now will I go pay a Visit to my Money.

# SCENE IV.

# The Street.

# Ramilie, and Lappet meeting.

Ram.

Well, Madam; what Success? have I been a false Prophet? and have you come at the old Huncks's Purse, or have I spoke like an Oracle, and is he as close–fisted as usual?

Lap.

Never was a Person of my Function so used, all my Rhetorick availed nothing; while I was talking to him about the Lady, he smil'd and was pleas'd; but the Moment I mention'd Money to him, his Countenance chang'd, and he understood not one Word that I said. But now, *Ramilie*, what do you think this Affair is that I am transacting?

Ram.

Nay, Mrs. *Lappet*, now you are putting too severe a Task upon me; how is it possible, in the vast Variety of Affairs, which you honour with taking into your Hands, that I should be able to guess which is so happy to employ your immediate Thoughts?

Lap.

Let me tell you then, sweet Sir, that I am transacting an Affair between your Master's Mistress and his Father.

*Ram.* What Affair, prithee?

Lap.

What should it be, but the Old one, Matrimony. In short, your Master and his Father are Rivals.

Ram.

I am glad on't, and I wish the old Gentleman Success, with all my Heart.

SCENE IV.

*Lap.* How! are you your Master's Enemy?

# Ram.

No, Madam; I am so much his Friend, that I had rather he should lose his Mistress, than his humble Servant, which must be the Case: for I am determin'd against a married Family, I will never be Servant to any Man who is not his own Master.

# Lap.

Why, truly when one considers the Case thoroughly, I must be of an Opinion, that it would be more your Master's Interest to be this Lady's Son–in–law, than her Husband; for, in the first Place, she has but little Fortune, and, if she was once married to his Son, I dare swear the old Gentleman wou'd never forgive the Disappointment of his Love.

#### Ram.

And is the old Gentleman in Love?

#### Lap.

Oh, profoundly! delightfully! Oh that you had but seen him as I have! with his Feet tottering, his Eyes watering, his Teeth chattering; his old Trunk was shaken with a Fit of Love, just as if it had been a Fit of an Ague.

#### Ramil.

He will have more cold Fits than hot, I believe.

#### Lap.

Is it not more advantageous for him, to have a Mother–in–law that should open his Father's Heart to him, than a Wife that should shut it against him? Besides, it will be the better for us all: for if the Husband were as covetous as the Devil, he could not stop the Hands of an extravagant Wife. She will always have it in her Power to reward them who keep her Secrets, and when the Husband is old enough to be the Wife's Grandfather, she has always Secrets that are worth concealing, take my Word for it: So, faith, I will e'en set about that in earnest, which I have hitherto intended only as a Jest.

#### Ram.

But do you think you can prevail with her? Will she not be apt to think she loses that by the Exchange, which he cannot make her amends for?

#### Lap.

Ah, *Ramilie*, the Difficulty is not so great to persuade a Woman to follow her Interest. We generally have that more at Heart than you Men imagine; besides, we are extremely apt to listen to one another, and whether you would lead a Woman to Ruin, or preserve her from it, the surest way of doing either is by one of her own Sex. We are generally decoy'd into the Net by Birds of our own Feathers.

#### Ramil.

Well, if you do succeed in your Undertaking, you will allow this, I hope, that I first put it into your Head.

#### Lap.

Yes, it is true, you did mention it first; but I thought of it first I am sure, I must have thought of it, but I will not lose a Moment's Time: For, notwithstanding all I have said, young Fellows are Devils. Besides, this has a most plausible Tongue, and, should he get Access to *Mariana*, may do in a few Minutes what I shall never be able to undo as long as I live.

Ramil.

There goes the Glory of all Chambermaids. The Jade has Art, but it is quite overshadow'd by her Vanity. She will get the better of every one, but the Person who will condescend to praise her: for, tho' she be a most mercenary Devil, she will swallow

no Bribe half so eagerly as Flattery. The same Pride, which warms her Fancy, serves to cool her Appetites; and therefore, tho' she have neither Vertue nor Beauty, her Vanity gives her both. And this is my Mistress, with a Pox to her. Pray, what am I in love with? But that is a Question so few Lovers can answer, that I shall content my self with thinking I am in Love with, *Le, je ne sçai quoi*.

# SCENE V.

# Lovegold's House.

#### Lovegold, Frederick, Harriet, Mrs. Wisely, and Mariana.

Love.

You see, Madam, what it is to marry extremely young. Here are a couple of tall Branches for you, almost the Age of Man and Woman; but ill Weeds grow apace.

Mrs. Wise.

When Children come to their Age, Mr. *Love–gold*, they are no longer any Trouble to their Parents; what I have always dreaded, was to have married into a Family where there were small Children.

Love.

Pray give me Leave, young Lady, I have been told you have no great Aversion to Spectacles; it is not that your Charms do not sufficiently strike the naked Eye, or that they want Addition; but it is with Glasses we look at the Stars, and I'll maintain you are a Star of Beauty that is the finest, brightest, and most glorious of all Stars.

*Mar. Harriet*, I shall certainly burst: Oh! nauseous, filthy Fellow.

*Love.* What does she say to you, *Harriet*?

*Har.* She says, Sir, if she were a Star you should be sure of her kindest Influence.

*Love.* How can I return this great Honour you do me?

*Mar.* Auh! what an Animal! what a Wretch!

*Love.* How vastly am I oblig'd to you for these kind Sentiments.

Mar.

I shall never be able to hold it out, unless you keep him at a greater Distance.

Love. [Listning.]

SCENE V.

I shall make them both keep their Distance, Madam. Hearkee, you Mr. *Spendall*, why don't you come and make this Lady some Acknowledgement for the great Honour she does your Father?

#### Fred.

My Father has indeed, Madam, much Reason to be vain of his Choice. You will be doubtless a very great Honour to our Family. Notwithstanding which, I cannot dissemble my real Sentiments so far, as to counterfeit any Joy I shall have in the Name of Son–in–law; nor can I help saying, that if it were in my Power, I believe I should make no Scruple of preventing the Match.

#### Mar.

I believe it, indeed; were they to ask the Leave of their Children, few Parents would marry twice.

#### Love.

Why, you ill-bred Blockhead, is that the Compliment you make your Mother-in-law?

#### Fred.

Well, Sir, since you will have me talk in another Stile Suffer me, Madam, to put myself in the Place of my Father; and, believe me, when I swear to you I never saw any one half so charming, that I can imagine no Happiness equal to that of pleasing you; that, to be called your Husband, would be to my Ears a Title more blest, more glorious than that of the greatest of Princes. The Possession of you is the most valuable Gift in the Power of Fortune. That is the lovely Mark to which all my Ambition tends; there is nothing which I am not capable of undertaking to attain so great a Blessing, all Difficulties, when you are the Prize in Pursuit

Love.

Hold, hold, Sir: Softly, if you please.

#### Fred.

I am only saying a few civil Things, Sir, for you to this Lady.

#### Love.

Your humble Servant, Sir: I have a Tongue to say civil Things with myself. I have no need of such an Interpreter as you are, sweet Sir.

#### Mar.

If your Father could not speak better for him self than his Son can for him, I am afraid he would meet with little Success.

#### Love.

I don't ask you, Ladies, to drink any Wine before Supper, lest it should spoil your Stomachs.

#### Fred.

I have taken the Liberty to order some Sweetmeats, Sir, and Tokay in the next Room; I hope the Ladies will excuse what is wanting.

#### Mrs. Wise.

There was no Necessity for such a Collation.

#### Fred. [To Mariana.]

Did you ever see, Madam, so fine a Brillant as that on my Father's Finger?

*Mar.* It seems, indeed, to be a very fine one.

Fred. [Takes it off from his Father's Finger, and gives it to Mariana.]

You cannot judge of it, Madam, unless you were to see it nearer. If you will give me Leave, Sir; there is no seeing a Jewel while it is on the Finger.

*Mrs. Wise., Mar.* It is really a prodigious fine one.

*Fred.* [*Preventing Mariana, who is going to return it.*] No, Madam, it is already in the best Hands. My Father, Madam, intends it as a Present to you; therefore, I hope, you will accept it.

Love. Present! I!

*Fred.* Is it not, Sir, your Request to this Lady, that she would wear this Bauble for your sake?

Love. [To his Son.] Is the Devil in you?

*Fred.* He makes Signs to me, that I would intreat you to accept it.

*Mar*. I shall not, upon my Word.

*Fred.* He will not receive it again.

Love. I shall run stark-staring mad.

*Mar*. I must insist on returning it.

*Fred.* It would be cruel in you to refuse him; let me intreat you, Madam, not to shock my poor Father to such a Degree.

*Mrs. Wise.* It is Ill–breeding, Child, to refuse so often.

*Love.* Oh! that the Devil would but fly away with this Fellow!

Fred.

See, Madam, what Agonies he is in, lest you should return it. It is not my Fault, dear Sir; I do all I can to prevail with her but she is obstinate For Pity's sake, Madam, keep it.

Love. [To his Son.] Infernal Villain!

Fred.

My Father will never forgive me, Madam, unless I succeed; on my Knees I intreat you.

*Love*. The Cut–throat!

*Mrs. Wise.* Daughter, I protest you make me asham'd of you; come, come, put up the Ring, since Mr. *Lovegold* is so uneasy about it.

*Mar.* Your Commands, Madam, always determine me, and I shall refuse no longer.

Love.

I shall be undone, I wish I was buried while I have one Farthing left.

# SCENE VI.

#### To them James.

James.

Sir, there is a Man at the Door who desires to speak with you.

Love.

Tell him I am busy bid him come another Time, bid him leave his Business with you

*James.* Must he leave the Money he has brought with me, Sir?

Love.

No, no, stay tell him I come this Instant. I ask Pardon, Ladies, I'll wait on you again immediately.

Fred.

Will you please, Ladies, to walk into the next Room, and taste the Collation I was mentioning?

*Mar.* I have eat too much Fruit already this Afternoon.

*Mrs. Wise.* Really, Sir, this is an unnecessary Trouble; but, since the Tokay is provided, I will taste one Glass.

*Har.* I'll wait on you, Madam.

# SCENE VII.

### Frederick, Mariana.

### Mar.

That is a mighty pretty Picture over the Door, *Harriet*. Is it a Family Piece, my Dear? I think it has a great deal of you in it. Are not you generally thought very like it? Hey–day, where is my Mama and your Sister gone?

# Fred.

They thought, Madam, we might have some Business together, and so were willing to leave us alone.

# Mar.

Did they so? but as we happen to have no Business together, we may as well follow them.

# Fred.

When a Lover has no other Obstacles to surmount, but those his Mistress throws in his Way, she is in the right not to become too easy a Conquest: But, were you as kind as I could wish, my Father would still prove a sufficient Bar to our Happiness; therefore it is a double Cruelty in you.

# Mar.

Our Happiness! how came your Happiness and mine to depend so on one another, pray? when that of the Mother and Son-in-law are usually so very opposite.

### Fred.

This is keeping up the Play behind the Curtain. Your Kindness to him comes from the same Spring, as your Cruelty to me.

#### Mar.

Modest enough! then, I suppose, you think both fictitious.

#### Fred.

Faith, to be sincere, I do without Arrogance, I think; I have nothing in me so detestable, as should make you deaf to all I say, or blind to all I suffer. This I am certain, there is nothing in him so charming, as to captivate a Woman of your Sense in a Moment.

#### Mar.

You are mistaken, Sir; Money; Money the most charming of all Things; Money, which will say more in one Moment than the most elegant Lover can in Years. Perhaps you will say a Man is not young; I answer, he is rich. He is not genteel, handsome, witty, brave, good-humour'd; but he is rich, rich, rich, rich, rich that one Word contradicts every thing you can say against him; and if you were to praise a Person for an whole Hour, and end with, *But he is poor*, you overthrow all you have said; for it has long been an establish'd Maxim, that he who is rich can have no Vice, and he that is poor can have no Vertue.

#### Fred.

These Principles are foreign to the real Sentiments of *Mariana* 's Heart. I vow, did you but know how ill a Counterfeit you are, how aukwardly Ill–nature sits upon you, you'd never wear it. There is not one so abandon'd, but that she can affect what is amiable better than you can what is odious. Nature has painted in you the Complexion of Virtue in such lively Colours, that nothing but what is lovely can suit you, or appear your own.

# SCENE VIII.

### Mariana, Frederick, Harriet.

Har.

I left your Mama, *Mariana*, with Mr. *Clermont*, who is shewing her some Pictures in the Gallery. Well, have you told him?

### Mar.

Told him what?

Har.

Why, what you told me this Afternoon; that you lov'd him.

Mar.

I tell you I lov'd him Oh! barbarous Falshood!

Fred.

Did you? could you say so? Oh! repeat it to my Face, and make me bless'd to that Degree.

Har.

Repeat it to him, can't you? How can you be so ill-natur'd to conceal any thing from another, which would make him happy to know?

Mar.

The Lye would choak me, were I to say so.

#### Har.

Indeed, my Dear, you have said you hated him so often, that you need not fear that. But, if she will not discover it to you herself, take my Word for it, Brother, she is your own without any Possibility of losing. She is full as fond of you as you are of her. I hate this peevish, foolish Coyness in Women who will suffer a worthy Lover to languish and despair when they need only put themselves to the Pain of telling Truth to make them easy.

Mar.

Give me leave to tell you, Miss *Harriet*, this is a Treatment I did not expect from you, especially in your own House, Madam. I did not imagine I was

invited hither to be betray'd, and that you had enter'd into a Plot with your Brother against my Reputation.

Har.

We form a Plot against your Reputation! I wish you could see, my Dear, how prettily these Airs become you. Take my Word for it, you would have no Reason to be in Love with your Fancy.

# Mar.

I should indeed have no Reason to be in Love with my Fancy, if it were fix'd where you have insinuated it to be placed.

# Har.

If you have any Reason, Madam, to be ashamed of your Choice, it is from denying it. My Brother is every way worthy of you, Madam; and give me leave to tell you, if I can prevent it you shall not render him as ridiculous to

the Town, as you have some other of your Admirers.

Fred.

Dear Harriet, carry it no farther; you will ruin me for ever with her.

Har.

Away, you do not know the Sex. Her Vanity will make you play the Fool 'till she despises you, and then Contempt will destroy her Affection for you It is a Part she has often play'd.

Mar.

I am oblig'd to you however, Madam, for the Lesson you have given me, how far I may depend on a Woman's Friendship. It will be my own Fault, if ever I am deceiv'd hereafter.

Har.

My Friendship, Madam, naturally cools when I discover its Object less worthy than I imagin'd her. I can never have any violent Esteem for one, who would make herself unhappy, to make the Person who doats on her more so; the ridiculous Custom of the World is a poor Excuse for such a Behaviour. And, in my Opinion, the Coquette, who sacrifices the Ease and the Reputation of as many as she is able to an ill–natur'd Vanity, is a more odious; I am sure she is a more pernicious Creature, than the Wretch whom Fondness betrays to make her Lover happy at the Expence of her own Reputation.

# SCENE IX.

To them Mrs. Wisely, Clermont.

Mrs. Wise.

Upon my Word, Sir, you have a most excellent Taste for Pictures.

Mar.

I can bear this no longer: If you had been base enough to have given up all Friendship and Honour, Good–breeding should have restrain'd you from using me after this inhumane, cruel, barbarous Manner.

*Mrs. Wise.* Bless me! Child, what's the matter?

Har.

Let me intreat you, *Mariana*, not to expose yourself, you have nothing to complain of on his Side; and therefore pray let the whole be a Secret.

Mar.

A Secret! no, Madam. The whole World shall know how I have been treated. I thank Heaven, I have it in my Power to be reveng'd on you; and if I am not reveng'd on you

Fred.

See, Sister, was I not in the right? Did I not tell you, you would ruin me? and now you have done it.

Har.

Courage! all will go well yet. You must not be frighten'd at a few Storms. These are only Blasts that carry a Lover

SCENE IX.

to his Harbour.

# SCENE X.

# To them Lovegold.

Love.

I ask your Pardon, I have dispatch'd my Business with all possible Haste.

Mrs. Wise.

I did not expect, Mr. Lovegold, when we were invited hither, that your Children intended to affront us.

Love.

Has any one affronted you, Madam?

Mrs. Wise.

Your Children, Sir, have us'd my poor Girl so ill, that they have brought Tears into her Eyes. I can assure you, we are not us'd to be treated in this Manner. My Daughter is of as good a Family

Love.

Out of my Sight, audacious, vile Wretches, and let me never see you again.

*Fred.* Sir, I

Love.

I won't hear a Word, and I wish I may never hear you more. Was ever such Impudence to dare after what I told you

Har.

Come, Brother; perhaps, I may give you some Comfort.

Fred.

I fear you have destroy'd it for ever.

# SCENE XI.

Lovegold, Mrs. Wisely, Mariana, Clermont.

Love.

How shall I make you amends for the Rudeness you have suffer'd? Poor, pretty Creature! had they stolen my Purse, I would almost as soon have pardon'd them.

Mrs. Wise.

The Age is come to a fine Pass, indeed, if Children are to control the Wills of their Parents. If I would have consented to a second Match, I would have been glad to have seen a Child of mine oppose it.

Love.

Let us be married immediately, my Dear; and if after that they ever dare to offend you, they shall stay no longer under my Roof.

#### Mrs. Wise.

Lookee, *Mariana*, I know your Consent will appear a little sudden, and not altogether conform to those nice Rules of Decorum, of which I have been all my Life so strict an Observer; but this is so prudent a Match, that the World will be apt to give you a Dispensation. When Women seem too forward to run away with idle young Fellows, the World is, as it ought to be, very severe on them; but when they only consult their Interest in their Consent, tho' it be never so quickly given; we say, *La*! who suspected it? it was mighty privately carried on.

#### Mar.

I resign my self entirely over to your Will, Madam, and am at your Disposal.

#### Mrs. Wise.

Mr. *Lovegold*, my Daughter is a little shy on this Occasion, you know your Courtship has not been of any long Date; but she has consider'd your great Merit, and I believe I may venture to give you her Consent.

#### Love.

And shall I? hey! I begin to find my self the happiest Man upon Earth. Od! Madam, you shall be a Grandmother within these ten Months. I am a very young Fellow.

#### Mar.

If you were five Years younger I should utterly detest you.

#### Love.

The very Creature she was describ'd to be. No one, sure, ever so luckily found a Mass of Treasure as I have. My pretty Sweet, if you will walk a few Minutes in the Garden I will wait on you; I must give some necessary Orders to my Clerk.

*Mrs. Wise.* We shall expect you with Impatience.

# SCENE XII.

Love-gold, Clermont.

Love.

*Clermont*, come hither: You see the Disorder my House is like to be in this Evening. I must trust every thing to your Care; see that Matters be manag'd with as small Expence as possible. My extravagant Son has sent for Fruit, Sweetmeats and Tokay. Take care what is not eat or drank be return'd to the Trades–people. If you can save a Bottle of the Wine, let that be sent back too, and put up what is left; if part of a Bottle, in a Pint: That I will keep for my own drinking when I am sick. Be sure that the Servants of my Guests be not ask'd to come farther than the Hall, for fear some of mine should ask them to eat. I trust every thing to you.

#### Cler.

I shall take all the Care possible, Sir. But there is one thing in this Entertainment of yours, which gives me inexpressible Pain.

*Love*. What is that, pr'ythee?

Cler.

That is the Cause of it. Give me leave, Sir, to be free on this Occasion. I am sorry a Man of your Years and Prudence should be prevail'd on to so indiscreet an Action, as I fear this Marriage will be called.

Love.

I know she has not quite so great a Fortune as I might expect.

*Cler.* Has she any Fortune, Sir?

Love.

Oh! yes, yes, I have been very well assur'd, that her Mother is in very good Circumstances; and you know she is her only Daughter. Besides, she has several Qualities which will save a Fortune. And a Penny sav'd is a Penny got; since I find I have great Occasion for a Wife, I might have search'd all over this Town, and not have got one cheaper.

*Cler*. Sure, you are in a Dream, Sir; she save a Fortune!

*Love.* In the Article of a Table, at least two hundred Pounds a Year.

*Cler.* Sure, Sir, you do not know

*Love.* In Clothes, two hundred more

*Cler*. There is not, Sir, in the whole Town

Love.

In Jewels, one hundred; Play, five hundred; these have been all prov'd to me; besides, all that her Mother is worth. In short, I have made a very prudent Choice.

*Cler.* Do but hear me, Sir.

*Love.* Take a particular Care of the Family, my good Boy. Pray let there be nothing wasted.

# SCENE XIII.

Clermont alone.

Cler.

How vainly do we spend our Breath, while Passion shuts the Ears of those we talk to. I thought it impossible for any thing to have surmounted his Avarice; but I find there is one little Passion, which reigns triumphant in every Mind it creeps into, and whether a Man be covetous, proud, or cowardly, it is in the Power of Woman to make him liberal, humble and brave. Sure this young Lady will not let her Fury carry her into the Arms of a Wretch she despises; but, as she is a Coquette, there is no answering for any of her Actions. I will hasten to acquaint

*Frederick* with what I have heard. Poor Man! how little Satisfaction he finds in his Mistress, compar'd to what I meet in *Harriet*. Love to him is Misery, to me perfect Happiness. Women are always one or the other; they are never indifferent.

Whoever takes for better and for worse, Meets with the greatest Blessing, or the greatest Curse.

# ACT IV.

# SCENE I.

SCENE, A Hall in Lovegold's House.

Frederick, Ramilie.

Fred.

How! Lappet, my Enemy! and can she attempt to forward Mariana's Marriage with my Father?

Ram.

Sir, upon my Honour, it is true. She told it me in the highest Confidence; a Trust, Sir, which nothing, but the inviolable Friendship I have for you, could have prevail'd with me to have broken.

Fred.

Sir, I am your most humble Servant, I am infinitely oblig'd to your Friendship.

Ram.

Oh! Sir; but really I did withstand pretty considerable Offers: for, would you think it, Sir, the Jade had the Impudence to attempt to engage me too in the Affair? I believe, Sir, you would have been pleas'd to have heard the Answer I gave her; Madam, says I, do you think if I had no more Honour, I should have no greater Regard to my Interest. It is my Interest, Madam, says I, to be honest: for my Master is a Man of that Generosity, that Liberality, that Bounty, that I am sure he will never suffer any Servant of his to be a Loser by being true to him. No, no, says I, let him alone for rewarding a Servant, when he is but once assur'd of his Fidelity.

Fred.

No Demands now, Ramilie, I shall find a Time to reward you.

Ram.

That was what I told her, Sir. Do you think, says I, that this old Rascal (I ask your Pardon, Sir) that this Hunks, my Master's Father, will live for ever? and then, says I, do you think my Master will not remember his old Friends?

#### Fred.

Well; but, dear Sir, let us have no more of your Rhetorick go and fetch *Lappet* hither. I'll try if I can't bring her over.

#### Ramil.

Bring her over! a Fig for her, Sir. I have a Plot worth fifty of yours, I'll blow her up with your Father. I'll make him believe just the contrary of every Word she has told him.

*Fred.* Can you do that?

# Ramil.

Never fear it, Sir; I'll warrant my Lyes keep even Pace with hers. But, Sir, I have another Plot, I don't Question but before you sleep, I shall put you in Possession of some Thousands of your Father's Money.

#### Fred.

He has done all in his Power to provoke me to it; but I am afraid that will be carrying the Jest too far.

#### Ramil.

Sir, I will undertake to make it out, that robbing him is a downright meritorious Act. Besides, Sir, if you have any Qualms of Conscience, you may return it him again. Your having Possession of it, will bring him to any Terms.

#### Fred.

Well, well. I believe there is little Danger of thy stealing any thing from him. So about the first Affair. It is that only which causes my present Pain.

#### Ramil.

Fear nothing, Sir, whilst Ramilie is your Friend.

# SCENE II.

Frederick, Clermont.

Fred.

If Impudence can give a Title to Success, I am sure thou hast a good one.

Cler.

Oh! *Frederick*, I have been looking you all over the House. I have News for you, which will give me Pain to discover, tho' it is necessary you should know it. In short, *Mariana* has determin'd to marry your Father this Evening.

#### Fred.

How! oh! *Clermont*, is it possible? Cursed be the Politicks of my Sister, she is the innocent Occasion of this. And can *Mariana* from a Pique to her

throw herself away! Dear *Clermont*, give me some Advice, think on some Method by which I may prevent, at least defer this Match: for that Moment which gives her to my Father, will strike a thousand Daggers in my Heart.

Cler.

Would I could advise you: but here comes one who is more likely to invent some Means for your Deliverance.

Fred. Ha! Lappet!

# SCENE III.

Lappet, Frederick, Clermont.

# Lap.

Hey-day! Mr. *Frederick*, you stand with your Arms a-cross, and look as melancholy as if there was a Funeral going on in the House, instead of a Wedding.

# Fred.

This Wedding, Madam, will prove the Occasion of my Funeral, I am oblig'd to you for being instrumental to it.

#### Lap.

Why, truly, if you consider the Case rightly, I think you are. It will be much more to your Interest to

### Fred.

Mistress, undo immediately what you have done; prevent this Match which you have forwarded, or by all the Devils which inhabit that Heart of yours

#### Lap.

For Heaven's sake, Sir. You do not intend to kill me?

#### Fred.

What could drive your Villany, to attempt to rob me of the Woman I doat on more than Life? what could urge thee when I trusted thee with my Passion, when I have paid the most extravagant Usury for Money to bribe thee to be my Friend, what could sway thee to betray me?

#### Lap.

As I hope to be sav'd, Sir, whatever I have done was intended for your Service.

#### Fred.

It is in vain to deny it, I know thou hast us'd thy utmost Art to persuade my Father into this Match.

#### Lap.

If I did, Sir, it was all with a view towards your Interest; if I have done any thing to prevent your having her, it was because I thought you would do better without her.

#### Fred.

Woud'st thou, to save my Life, tear out my Heart? And dost thou, like an impudent Inquisitor, while thou art destroying me, assert it is for my own sake?

#### Lap.

Be but appeas'd, Sir, and let me recover out of this terrible Fright you have put me into, and I will engage to make you easy yet.

#### Cler.

Dear *Frederick*, adjourn your Anger for a while at least; I am sure, Mrs. *Lappet* is not your Enemy in her Heart, and whatever she has done, if it has not been for your sake, this I dare confidently affirm, it has been for her own. And I have so good an Opinion of her, that the Moment you shew her it will be more her Interest to serve you, than to oppose you; you may be secure of her Friendship.

#### Fred.

But has she not already carried it beyond Retrieval?

#### Lap.

Alas, Sir, I never did any thing yet so effectually, but that I have been capable of undoing it; nor have I ever said

#### SCENE II.

any thing so positively, but that I have been able as positively to unsay it again. As for Truth, I have neglected it so long, that I often forget which Side of the Question it is of. Besides, I look on it to be so very insignificant towards Success, that I am indifferent whether it is for me or against me.

Fred.

Let me intreat you, dear Madam, to lose no Time in informing us of your many excellent Qualities; but consider how very precious our Time is, since the Marriage is intended this very Evening.

*Lap*. That cannot be.

Cler.

My own Ears were Witnesses to her Consent.

Lap.

That indeed may be but for the Marriage it cannot be, nor it shall not be.

*Fred.* How? how will you prevent it?

Lap.

By an infallible Rule I have. But, Sir, Mr *Clermont* was mentioning a certain little Word called Interest, just now. I should not repeat it to your Sir, but that really one goes about a Thing with so much a better Will, and one has so much better Luck in it too, when one has got some little Matter by it.

Fred.

Here, take all the Money I have in my Pocket, and on my Marriage with Mariana, thou shall have fifty more.

Lap.

That is enough, Sir, if they were half married already, I would unmarry them again. I am impatient 'till I am about it Oh! there is nothing like Gold to quicken a Woman's Capacity.

# SCENE IV.

Frederick, Clermont.

Fred.

Dost thou think I may place any Confidence in what this Woman says?

Cler.

Faith! I think so. I have told you how dextrously she manag'd my Affairs. I have seen such Proofs of her Capacity, that I am much easier on your Account than I was.

Fred.

My own Heart is something lighter too. Oh! *Clermont*! how dearly do we buy all the Joys which we receive from Women?

Cler.

A Coquet's Lover generally pays very severely, indeed. His Game is sure to lead him a long Chace, and if he

SCENE IV.

catches her at last, she is hardly worth carrying home You will excuse me.

# Fred.

It does not affect me, for what appears Coquette in *Mariana* is rather the Effects of Sprightliness and Youth, than any fix'd Habit of Mind; she has Good–sense and Good–nature at the Bottom.

#### Cler.

If she has Good-nature, it is at the Bottom indeed: for I think, she has never discover'd any to you.

### Fred.

Women of her Beauty and Merit have such a Variety of Admirers, that they are shocked to think of giving up all the rest by fixing on one. Besides, so many pretty Gentlemen are continually attending them, and whispering soft Things in their Ears, who

think all their Services well repaid by a Curtsey or a Smile, that they are startled and think a Lover a most unreasonable Creature, who can imagine he merits their whole Person.

#### Cler.

They are of all People my Aversion, they are a Sort of Spaniels, who', tho' they have no Chance of running down the Hare themselves, often spoil the chace. I have known one of these Fellows pursue half the fine Women in Town, without any other Design than of enjoying them all in the Arms of a Strumpet. It is pleasant enough to see them watching the Eyes of a Woman of Quality half an Hour, to get an Opportunity of making a Bow to her.

# Fred.

Which she often returns with a Smile, or some more extraordinary Mark of Affection; from a charitable Design of giving Pain to her real Admirer, who, tho' he can't be jealous of the Animal, is concern'd to see her condescend to take notice of him.

# SCENE V.

Harriet, Frederick, Clermont.

Har.

I suppose, Brother, you have heard of my good Father's Oeconomy, that he has resolv'd to join two Entertainments in one and prevent giving an extraordinary Wedding Supper.

Fred.

Yes, I have heard it and I hope have taken measures to prevent it.

*Har.* Why, did you believe it then?

*Fred.* I think, I had no longer room to doubt.

*Har.* I would not believe it, if I were to see them in Bed together.

*Fred.* Heaven forbid it.

SCENE V.

Har.

So say I too. Heaven forbid I should have such a Mother–in–law; but I think, if she were wedded into any other Family, you would have no Reason to lament the Loss of so constant a Mistress.

Fred.

Dear Harriet, indulge my Weakness.

Har.

I will indulge your Weakness with all my Heart but the Men ought not: for they are such Lovers as you, who spoil the Women

Come, if you will bring Mr. *Clermont* into my Apartment, I'll give you a Dish of Tea, and you shall have some *Sal Volatile* in it, tho' you have no real Cause for any Depression of your Spirits; for I dare swear, your Mistress is very safe. And I am sure, if she were to be lost in the manner you apprehend, she would be the best Loss you ever had in your Life.

Cler.

Oh! Frederick! if your Mistress were but equal to your Sister, you might be well called the happiest of Mankind.

[Exeunt.

# SCENE VI.

Mariana, Lappet.

Lap.

Ha, ha, ha; and so you have persuaded the old Lady, that you really intend to have him.

Mar.

I tell you, I do really intend to have him.

*Lap.* Have him! ha, ha, ha. For what do you intend to have him?

*Mar.* Have I not told you already that I will marry him

*Lap*. Indeed, you will not.

Mar.

How! Mrs. Impertinence, has your Mistress told you so? and did she send you hither to persuade me against the Match?

Lap.

What should you marry him for? as for his Riches, you might as well think of going hungry to a fine Entertainment, where you were sure of not being suffer'd to eat. The very Income of your own Fortune will be more than he will allow you. Adieu fine Clothes, Operas, Plays, Assemblies; adieu dead *Quadrille* and to what have you sacrificed all these? not to a Husband for whatever you make of him, you will never make a Husband

# of him, I'm sure.

# Mar.

This is a Liberty, Madam, I shall not allow you; if you intend to stay in this House, you must leave off these pretty Airs you have lately given your self Remember you are a Servant here, and not the Mistress, as you have been suffer'd to affect.

### Lap.

You may lay aside your Airs too, good Madam, if you come to that: for I shall not desire to stay in this House, when you are the Mistress of it.

#### Mar.

It will be prudent in you, not to put on your usual Insolence to me; for if you do, your Master shall punish you for it.

#### Lap.

I have one Comfort, he will not be able to punish me half so much as he will you. The worst he can do to me is to turn me out of the House but you he can keep in it. Wife to an old Fellow! saugh!

#### Mar.

If Miss *Harriet* sent you on this Errand, you may return, and tell her, her Wit is shallower than I imagin'd it and since she has no more Experience, I believe I shall send my Daughter–in–law to School again.

#### Lap.

Hum! you will have a Schoolmaster at home. I begin to doubt, whether this sweet-temper'd Creature will not marry in Spite at last. I have one Project more to prevent her, and that I will about instantly.

# SCENE VII.

#### The Garden.

#### Lovegold, Mrs. Wisely.

Love.

I cannot be easy. I must settle something upon her.

Mrs. Wise.

Believe me, Mr. Lovegold, it is unnecessary; when you die, you will leave your Wife very well provided for.

Love.

Indeed, I have known several Law-suits happen on these Accounts, and sometimes the Whole has been thrown away in disputing to which Party it belong'd. I shall not sleep in my Grave, while a Set of villanous Lawyers are dividing the little Money I have among 'em.

#### Mrs. Wise.

I know this old Fool is fond enough now to come to any Terms; but it is ill trusting him: Violent Passions can never last long at his Years.

[Aside.

SCENE VII.

Love. What are you considering?

Mrs. Wise.

Mr. *Lovegold*, I am sure, knows the World too well to have the worse Opinion of any Woman from her Prudence; therefore I must tell you,

this Delay of the Match does not at all please me. It seems to argue your Inclination abated, and so it is better to let the Treaty end here. My Daughter has a very good Offer now, which were she to refuse on your Account, she would make a very ridiculous Figure in the World after you had left her.

Love.

Alas! Madam, I love her better than any thing almost upon the Face of the Earth; this Delay is to secure her a good Jointure: I am not worth the Money the World says, I am not indeed.

Mrs. Wise.

Well, Sir, then there can be no Harm for the Satisfaction of both her Mind and mine, in your signing a small Contract, which can be prepar'd immediately.

*Love.* What signifies signing, Madam?

Mrs. Wise.

I see, Sir, you don't care for it. So there is no Harm done, and really this other is so very advantageous an Offer, that I don't know whether I shall not be blam'd for refusing him on any Account.

*Love.* Nay, but be not in haste; what would you have me sign?

*Mrs. Wise.* Only to perform your Promise of Marriage.

Love.

Well, well, let your Lawyer draw it up then, and mine shall look it over.

Mrs. Wise.

I believe, my Lawyer is in the House, I'll go to him, and get it done instantly; and then we will give this Gentleman a final Answer. I assure you, he is a very advantageous Offer.

Love.

As I intend to marry this Girl, there can be no Harm in signing the Contract; her Lawyer draws it up, so I shall be at no Expence; for I can get mine to look it over for nothing. I should have done very wisely indeed, to have entitled her to a Third of my Fortune, whereas I will not make her Jointure above a Tenth. I protest, it is with some Difficulty that I have prevail'd with my self to put off the Match: I am more in Love, I find, than I suspected.

# SCENE VIII.

Lappet, Lovegold.

Lap. Oh! unhappy! miserable Creature that I am! what shall I do? whither shall I go?

*Love*. What's the matter, *Lappet*?

Lap.

To have been innocently assisting in betraying so good a Man! so good a Master! so good a Friend!

Love. Lappet, I say.

*Lap.* I shall never forgive my self, I shall never outlive it, I shall never eat, drink, sleep

[Runs against him.

Love. One would think you were walking in your Sleep now. What can be the meaning of this?

*Lap.* Oh! Sir! you are undone, Sir, and I am undone.

*Love.* How! what! has any one robb'd me? have I lost any thing?

*Lap.* No, Sir; but you have got something.

*Love*. What? what?

*Lap.* A Wife, Sir.

*Love*. No, I have not yet but why

*Lap.* How, Sir, are you not married?

*Love*. No.

*Lap.* That is the happiest Word I ever heard come out of your Mouth.

Love.

I have for some particular Reasons, put off the Match for a few Days.

Lap.

Yes, Sir; and for some particular Reasons, you shall put off the Match for a few Years.

*Love*. What do you say?

Lap.

Oh! Sir. This Affair has almost determin'd me never to engage in matrimonial Matters again. I have been finely deceiv'd in this Lady. I told you, Sir, she had an Estate in a certain Country; but I find it is all a Cheat, Sir; the Devil of any Estate has she.

*Love.* How! not any Estate at all! How can she live then?

Lap.

Nay, Sir. Heaven knows how half the People in this Town live.

Love.

However, it is an excellent good Quality in a Woman to be able to live without an Estate. She that can make something out of nothing, will make a little go a great way. I am sorry she has no Fortune; but considering all her saving Qualities, *Lappet* 

Lap.

All an Imposition, Sir; she is the most extravagant Wretch upon Earth.

Love. How! how! extravagant!

Lap.

I tell you, Sir, she is downright Extravagance it self.

Love.

Can it be possible after what you told me!

Lap.

Alas! Sir. That was only a Cloke thrown over her real Inclinations.

Love.

How was it possible for you to be so deceiv'd in her?

Lap.

Alas! Sir, she would have deceiv'd any one upon Earth, even you yourself: For, Sir, during a whole Fortnight since you have been in Love with her, she has made it her whole Business to conceal her Extravagance, and appear thrifty.

Love.

That is a good Sign, tho'; *Lappet*, let me tell you, that is a good Sign, right Habits as well as wrong are got by affecting them. And she who could be thrifty a whole Fortnight, gives lively Hopes that she may be brought to be

SCENE VIII.

so as long as she lives.

Lap.

She loves Play to Distraction: It is the only visible Way in the World she has of a Living.

Love.

She must win then, *Lappet*; and Play, when People play the best of the Game, is no such very bad thing. Besides, as she plays only to support her self, when she can be supported without it, she may leave it off.

Lap.

To support her Extravagance, in Dress particularly; why, don't you see, Sir, she is dress'd out to-day like a Princess?

Love.

It may be an Effect of Prudence in a young Woman to dress, in order to get a Husband. And as that is apparently her Motive, when she is married

that Motive ceases; and to say the Truth, she is in Discourse a very prudent young Woman.

*Lap.* Think of her Extravagance.

*Love.* A Woman of the greatest Modesty!

*Lap.* And Extravagance.

*Love.* She has really a very fine Set of Teeth.

*Lap.* She will have all the Teeth out of your Head.

*Love.* I never saw finer Eyes.

*Lap.* She will eat you out of House and Home.

*Love*. Charming Hair.

*Lap*. She will ruin you.

*Love.* Sweet kissing Lips, swelling Breasts, and the finest Shape that ever was embraced.

[Catching Lappet in his Arms.

Lap.

Oh, Sir! I am not the Lady. Was ever such an old Goat! Well, Sir, I see you are determined on the Match; and so, I desire you wou'd pay me my Wages; I cannot bear to see the Ruin of a Family, in which I have lived so long, that I have contracted as great a Friendship for it as if it was my own: I can't bear to see Waste, Riot, and Extravagance; to see all the Wealth a poor, honest, industrious Gentleman has been raising all his Life–time, squander'd away in a Year or two in Feasts, Balls, Musick, Cards, Clothes, Jewels It would break my Heart to see my poor old Master eat out by a Set of Singers, Fidlers, Milliners, Mantua–makers, Mercers, Toymen, Jewellers, Fops, Cheats, Rakes To see his Guineas fly about like Dust; all his Ready–money paid in one Morning to one Tradesman; his whole Stock in the Funds spent in one Half–year; all his Land swallowed down in another; all his old Gold, nay, the very Plate which he has had in his Family, Time out of mind, which has descended from Father to Son ever since the Flood, to see even that disposed of. What will they have next, I wonder, when they have had all that he is worth in the World, and sent the poor old Man without any thing to furnish his old Age with the Necessaries of Life Will they be contented then, or will they tear out his Bowels, and eat them too?

[Both burst into Tears] The Laws are cruel to put it in the Power of a Wife to ruin her Husband in this manner. And will any one tell me, that such a Woman as this is handsome? What are a pair of shining Eyes, when they must be bought with the Loss of all one's shining old Gold?

*Love.* Oh! my poor old Gold.

*Lap.* Perhaps she has a fine Set of Teeth.

*Love.* My poor Plate that I have hoarded with so much Care!

*Lap.* Or I'll grant she may have a most beautiful Shape.

Love. My dear Land and Tenements!

*Lap.* What are the Roses on her Cheeks, or Lilies in her Neck?

*Love.* My poor *India* Bonds, bearing at least Three and a Half *per Cent*.

Lap.

A fine Excuse indeed, when a Man is ruined by his Wife, to tell us he has married a Beauty.

# SCENE IX.

Lawyer, Lovegold, Lappet.

Law.

Sir, the Contract is ready, my Client has sent for the Counsel on the other Side, and he is now below examining it.

Love.

Get you out of my Doors, you Villain, you and your Client too; I'll contract you, with a Pox.

Law.

Hey-day! sure you are non compos mentis!

Love.

No, Sirrah, I had like to have been *non compos mentis*; but I have had the good Luck to escape it. Go and tell your Client, I have discover'd her; bid her take her advantageous Offer, for I shall sign no Contracts.

Law.

This is the strangest Thing I have met with in my whole Course of Practice.

Love.

I am very much obliged to you, *Lappet*; indeed, I am very much obliged to you.

Lap.

I am sure, Sir, I have a very great Satisfaction in serving you; and I hope you will consider of that little Affair that I mentioned to you to-day, about my Law-suit.

Love. I am very much obliged to you.

Lap.

I hope, Sir, you won't suffer me to be ruined, when I have preserved you from it?

Love. Hey!

[Appearing deaf.

Lap. You know, Sir, that in *Westminster–Hall* Money and Right are always on the same Side.

Love.

Ay, so they are; very true, so they are; and therefore no one can take too much Care of his Money.

*Lap.* The smallest Matter of Money, Sir, would do me an infinite Service.

Love. Hey! What?

Lap.

A small Matter of Money, Sir, would do me a great Kindness.

Love.

Oho! I have a very great Kindness for you, indeed; I have a very great Kindness for you.

Lap.

Pox take your Kindness! I'm only losing Time; there's nothing to be got out of him. So I'll ev'n to *Frederick*, and see what the Report of my Success will do there: Ah! would I were married to thee my self!

Love.

What a prodigious Escape have I had! I cannot look at the Precipice, without being giddy.

# SCENE X.

Ramilie, Lovegold.

Love.

Who is that? Oh, is it you, Sirrah? How dare you enter within these Walls?

# Ramil.

Truly, Sir, I can scarcely reconcile it to my self; I think, after what has happened, you have no great Title to my Friendship. But I don't know how it is, Sir, there is something or other about you which strangely engages my Affections, and which, together with the Friendship I have for your Son, won't let me suffer you to be imposed upon; and to prevent that, Sir, is the whole and sole Occasion of my coming within your Doors. Did not a certain Lady, Sir, called Mrs. *Lappet*, depart from you just now?

*Love.* What if she did, Sirrah?

Ramil. Has she not, Sir, been talking to you about a young Lady, whose Name is *Mariana*?

*Love*. Well, and what then?

Ramil.

Why then, Sir, every single Syllable she has told you has been, neither more nor less, than a most confounded Lye, as is, indeed, every Word she says; for I don't believe, upon a modest Calculation, she has told six Truths since she has been in the House: She is made up of Lyes: Her Father was an Attorney, and her Mother was Chambermaid to a Maid of Honour. The first Word she spoke was a Lye, and so will be the last. I know she has pretended a great Affection for you, that's one Lye; and every thing she has said of *Mariana*, is another.

Love. How! how! are you sure of this?

# Ramil.

Why, Sir, she and I laid the Plot together; that one Time, indeed, I my self was forced to deviate a little from the Truth, but it was with a good Design; the Jade pretended to me, that it was out of Friendship to my Master; that it was because she thought such a Match would not be at all to his Interest; but alas! Sir, I know her Friendship begins and ends at home; and that she has Friendship for no Person living but her self. Why, Sir, do but look at *Mariana*, Sir, and see whether you can think her such a sort of a Woman as she has described her to you.

#### Love.

Indeed she has appeared to me always in a different Light. I do believe what you say. This Jade has been bribed

by my Children to impose upon me. I forgive thee all that thou hast done, for this one Service. I will go deny all that I said to the Lawyer, and put an end to every thing this Moment. I knew it was impossible she could be such a sort of a Woman.

Ramil.

And I will go find out my Master, make him the happiest of Mankind, squeeze his Purse, and then get drunk for the Honour of all party-coloured Politicians.

# SCENE XI.

#### The Hall.

Frederick, Lappet.

Fred.

Excellent Lappet! I shall never think I have sufficiently rewarded you for what you have done.

Lap.

I have only done half the Business yet. I have, I believe, effectually broke off the Match with your Father. Now, Sir, I shall make up the Matter between you and her.

Fred.

Do but that, dear Girl, and I'll coin my self nto Guineas.

Lap.

Keep your Self for your Lady, Sir; she will take all that sort of Coin, I warrant her: As for me, I shall be much more easily contented.

Fred.

But what Hopes can'st thou have? for I, alas! see none.

Lap.

Oh, Sir! it is more easy to make half a Dozen Matches, than to break one; and, to say the Truth, it is an Office I my self like better. There is something, methinks, so pretty in bringing young People together that are fond of one another. I protest, Sir, you will be a mighty handsome Couple. How fond will you be of a little Girl the exact Picture of her Mother? And how fond will she be of a Boy to put her in mind of his Father?

#### Fred.

Death! you Jade, you have fir'd my Imagination.

Lap.

But methinks I want to have the Hurricane begin, hugely; I am surpris'd they are not altogether by the Ears already!

# SCENE XII.

# Ramilie, Frederick, Lappet.

# Ram.

Oh, Madam! I little expected to have found you and my Master together, after what has happened; I did not think you had had the Assurance.

# Fred.

Peace, Ramilie, all is well, and Lappet is the best Friend I have in the World.

# Ramil.

Yes, Sir, all is well, indeed; no Thanks to her; happy is the Master that has a good Servant; a good Servant is certainly the greatest Treasure in this World; I have done your Business for you, Sir; I have frustrated all she has been doing, denied all she has been telling him; in short, Sir, I observed her Ladyship in a long Conference with the old Gentleman, mightily to your Interest, as you may imagine. No sooner was she gone than I steps in, and made the old Gentleman believe every single Syllable she had told him, to be a most confounded Lye; and away he is gone, fully determin'd to put an end to the Affair.

Lap.

And sign the Contract; so now, Sir, you are ruined without Reprieve.

Fred.

Death and Damnation! Fool! Villain!

Ram.

Heyday! What is the Meaning of this? Have I done any more than you commanded me?

Fred.

Nothing but my curst Stars cou'd have contriv'd so damn'd an Accident.

Ramil.

You cannot blame me, Sir, whatever has happened.

Fred.

I don't blame you, Sir, nor my self, nor any one; Fortune has marked me out for Misery. But I will be no longer idle; since I am to be ruin'd, I will meet my Destruction.

# SCENE XIII.

Lappet, Ramilie.

[They stand some time silent, looking at each other.

Lap.

I give you Joy, Sir, of the Success of your Negotiation, you have approved your self a most able Person, truly; and I dare swear, when your Skill is once known, will not want Employment.

# Ramil.

Do not triumph, good Mrs. *Lappet*, a Politician may make a Blunder; I am sure no one can avoid it that is employ'd with you, for you change Sides so often, that 'tis impossible to tell at any time, which Side you are on.

#### Lap.

And pray, Sirrah, what was the Occasion of your betraying me to your Master, for he has told me all?

#### Ramil.

Conscience, Conscience, Mrs. *Lappet*, the great Guide of all my Actions; I could not find in my Heart to let him lose his Mistress.

#### Lap.

Your Master is very much obliged to you indeed, to lose your own, in order to preserve his; for, henceforth, I forbid all your Addresses, I disown all Obligations, I revoke all Promises; henceforth I would advise you never to open your Lips to me, for if you do it will be in vain; I shall be deaf to all your little, false, mean, treacherous, base, Insinuations. I would have you know, Sir, a Woman, injured as I am, never can, nor ought to forgive; never see my Face again.

#### Ramil.

Huh! now would some Lovers think themselves very unhappy; but I, who have had Experience in the Sex, am never fright'ned at the Frowns of a Mistress, nor ravish'd with her Smiles; they both naturally succeed one another; and a Woman, generally, is as sure to perform what she threatens, as she is what she promises. But now I'll to my Lurking–place. I'm sure this old Rogue has Money hid in the Garden; if I can but discover it, I shall handsomly quit all Scores with the old Gentleman, and make my Master a sufficient Return for the Loss of his Mistress.

# SCENE XIV.

#### Another Apartment.

Frederick, Mrs. Wisely, Mariana.

#### Fred.

No, Madam, I have no Words to upbraid you with, nor shall I attempt it.

#### Mrs. Wise.

I think, Sir, a Respect to your Father should keep you now within the Rules of Decency; as for my Daughter, after what has happened, I think she cannot expect it on any other Account.

#### Mar.

Dear Mama, don't be serious, when, I dare say, Mr. Frederick is in Jest.

#### Fred.

This exceeds all you have done; to insult the Person you have made miserable, is more cruel than having made him so.

#### Mar.

Come, come, you may not be so miserable as you expect. I know the Word, Mother-in-law, has a terrible Sound, but perhaps I may make a better than you imagine. Believe me, you will see a Change in this House which will not be disagreeable to a Man of Mr. *Frederick*'s gay Temper.

# Fred.

All Changes to me are henceforth equal. When Fortune robbed me of you, she made her utmost Effort; I now despise all in her Power.

#### Mrs. Wise.

I must insist, Sir, on your behaving in a different manner to my Daughter, the World is apt to be censorious. Oh, Heavens! I shudder at the Apprehensions of having a Reflexion cast on my Family, which has hitherto past unblemished.

#### Fred.

I shall take care, Madam, to shun any Possibility of giving you such a Fear: for from this Night I never will behold those dear, those fatal Eyes again.

#### Mar.

Nay, that I am sure will cast a Reflexion on me. What a Person will the World think me to be, when you cou'd not live with me?

# Fred.

Live with you! Oh, *Mariana*! those Words bring back a thousand tender Ideas to my Mind. Oh! had that been my blest Fortune!

#### Mrs. Wise.

Let me beg, Sir, you would keep a greater Distance. The young Fellows of this Age are so rampant, that even Degrees of Kindred can't restrain them.

#### Fred.

There are yet no such Degrees between us. Oh, *Mariana*! while it is in your Power, while the irrevocable Wax remains unstamp'd, consider, and do not seal my Ruin.

#### Mrs. Wise.

Come with me, Daughter, you shall not stay a Moment longer with him a rude Fellow.

# SCENE XIII.

Ramilie, Frederick.

Ramil. Follow me, Sir, follow me this Instant.

*Fred.* What's the Matter?

*Ramil.* Follow me, Sir; we are in the right Box; the Business is done.

Fred. What done?

Ramil.

I have it under my Arm, Sir here it is!

*Fred.* What? What?

*Ramil.* Your Father's Soul, Sir, his Money. Follow me, Sir, this Moment, before we are overtaken.

*Fred.* Ha! this may preserve me yet.

# SCENE XIV.

Lovegold, in the utmost Distraction.

Thieves! Thieves! Assassination! Murder! I am undone! All my Money is gone! Who is the Thief? Where is the Villain? Where shall I find him? Give me my Money again, Villain. *[Catching himself by the Arm.]* I am distracted! I know not where I am, nor what I am, nor what I do. Oh! my Money, my Money! Ha! what say you? Alack–a–day! Here is no one. The Villain must have watch'd his Time carefully; he must have done it while I was signing that d n'd Contract. I will go to a Justice, and have all my House put to their Oaths, my Servants, my Children, my Mistress, and my self too; all the People in the House, and in the Street, and in the Town; I will have them all Executed; I will hang all the World; and if I don't find my Money, I will hang my self afterwards.

# ACT V.

# SCENE I.

SCENE, The Hall.

SEVERAL SERVANTS.

James.

There will be rare Doings, now; Madam's an excellent Woman, faith! Things won't go as they have done; she has order'd something

like a Supper; here will be Victuals enough for the whole Town.

Thomas.

She's a sweet-humour'd Lady, I can tell you that. I have had a very good Place on't, with her. You will have no more Use for Locks and Keys in this House, now.

James.

This is the luckiest Day I ever saw; as soon as Supper is over, I will get drunk to her good Health, I am resolved; and that's more than ever I cou'd have done here before.

Thomas.

You shan't want Liquor, for here are ten Hogsheads of strong Beer coming in.

James.

Bless her Heart! good Lady! I wish she had a better Bridegroom.

SCENE XIV.

# Thomas.

Ah! never mind that, he has a good Purse; and for other Things let her alone, Master James.

# Wheed.

*Thomas*, you must go to Mr. *Mixture*'s the Wine–Merchant, and order him to send in twelve Dozen of his best *Champagne*, twelve Dozen of *Burgundy*, and twelve Dozen of *Hermitage*. And you must call at the Wax–Chandler's, and bid him send in a Chest of Candles; and at *Lambert*'s the Confectioner in *Pall–mall*, and order the finest Desert he can furnish; and you, *Will*, must go to Mr. *Gray*'s, the Horse–Jockey, and order him to buy my Lady three of the finest Geldings for her Coach, to–morrow Morning; and here, you must take this Roll, and invite all the People in it to Supper; then you must go to the Playhouse in *Drury–Lane*, and engage all the Musick, for my Lady intends to have a Ball.

#### James.

Oh brave Mrs. Wheedle! here are fine Times!

#### Wheed.

My Lady desires that Supper may be kept back, as much as possible; and if you can think of any thing to add to it, she desires you would.

*James.* She is the best of Ladies.

#### Wheed.

So you will say, when you know her better: She has thought of nothing ever since Matters have been made up between her and your Master, but how to lay out as much Money as she could; we shall have all rare Places.

James.

I thought to have given Warning to-morrow Morning, but I believe I shall not be in haste now.

Wheed.

See what it is to have a Woman at the Head of the House. But here she comes. Go you into the Kitchen, and see that all things be in the nicest Order.

#### James.

I am ready to leap out of my Skin for Joy.

# SCENE II.

Mariana, Wheedle, Upholsterer, Mrs. Wisely.

Mar.

Wheedle, have you dispatched the Servants according to my Orders.

*Wheed*. Yes, Madam.

Mar.

You will take care, Mr. Furnish, and let me have those two Beds with the utmost Expedition?

Uphol.

SCENE II.

I shall take a particular Care, Madam. I shall put them both in hand to-morrow Morning; I shall put off some Work, Madam, on that Account.

#### Mar.

That Tapestry in the Dining-Room does not at all please me.

#### Uphol.

Your Ladyship is very much in the right, Madam; it is quite out of Fashion; no one hangs a Room now with Tapestry.

#### Mar.

Oh! I have the greatest Fondness for Tapestry in the World! You must positively get me some of a newer Pattern.

#### Uphol.

Truly, Madam, as you say, Tapestry is one of the prettiest sorts of Furniture for a Room, that I know of. I believe I can shew you some that will please you.

#### Mrs. Wise.

I protest, Child, I can't see any Reason for this Alteration.

#### Mar.

Dear Mama, let me have my Will. There is not any one thing in the whole House that I shall be able to leave in it, every thing has so much of Antiquity about it; and I cannot endure the Sight of any thing that is not perfectly modern.

#### Uphol.

Your Ladyship is in the right, Madam; there is no Possibility of being in the Fashion, without new-furnishing a House, at least once in twenty Years; and indeed to be at the very Top of the Fashion, you will have need of almost continual Alterations.

#### Mrs. Wise,

That is an Extravagance I would never submit to. I have no Notion of destroying ones Goods before they are half worn out, by following the ridiculous Whims of two or three People of Quality.

#### Uphol.

Ha, ha! Madam, I believe her Ladyship is of a different Opinion I have many a Set of Goods entirely whole, that I would be very loth to put into your Hands.

# SCENE III.

To them Mariana, Mercer, Jeweller.

Mar.

Oh, Mr. Sattin! have you brought those Gold Stuffs I ordered you?

Merc.

Yes, Madam, I have brought your Ladyship some of the finest Patterns that were ever made.

Mar.

Well, Mr. Sparkle, have you the Necklace and Ear-rings with you?

Jewel.

Yes, Madam; and I defy any Jeweller in Town to shew you their Equals; they are, I think, the finest Water I ever saw; they are finer than the Dutchess of *Glitter*'s, which have been so much admired; I have brought you a Solitaire too, Madam; my Lady *Raffle* bought the Fellow of it Yesterday.

*Mar.* Sure, it has a Flaw in it, Sir.

# Jewel.

Has it, Madam? Then there never was a Brilliant without one; I am sure, Madam, I bought it for a good Stone, and if it be not a good Stone, you shall have it for nothing.

# SCENE IV.

Lovegold, Mariana, Mrs. Wisely, Jeweller, Mercer, Upholsterer.

Love.

It's lost, it's gone, it's irrecoverable; I shall never see it more!

Mar.

And what will be the lowest Price of the Necklace and Ear-rings?

Jewel.

If you were my Sister, Madam, I cou'd not 'bate you one Farthing of three thousand Guineas.

Love.

What do you say of three thousand Guineas, Villain? Have you my three thousand Guineas?

*Mrs. Wise.* Bless me, Mr. *Lovegold*! what's the Matter?

Love.

I am undone! I am ruined! My Money is stolen! My dear three thousand Guineas that I received but Yesterday, are taken away from the Place I had put them in, and I shall never see them again!

Mar.

Don't let them make you uneasy, you may possibly recover them; or if you should not, the Loss is but a Trifle.

*Love.* How! a Trifle! Do you call three thousand Guineas a Trifle?

#### Mrs. Wise.

She sees you so disturbed, that she is willing to make as light of your Loss as possible, in order to comfort you.

Love.

To comfort me! Can she comfort me by calling three thousand Guineas a Trifle! But tell me what were you saying of them? Have you seen them?

Jewel.

Really, Sir, I do not understand you; I was telling the Lady the Price of a Necklace and a Pair of Ear-rings, which
were as cheap at three thousand Guineas as

Love. How! What? What?

### Mar.

I can't think them very cheap. However, I am resolved to have 'em; so let him have the Money, Sir, if you please.

*Love*. I am in a Dream!

### Mar.

You will be paid immediately, Sir. Well, Mr. *Sattin*, and pray what is the highest priced Gold Stuff you have brought?

Merc.

Madam, I have one of twelve Pounds a Yard.

Mar.

It must be pretty at that Price. Let me have a Gown and Petticoat cut off.

Love.

You shall cut off my Head first. What are you doing? Are you mad?

Mar.

I am only preparing a proper Dress to appear in, as your Wife.

Love.

Sirrah, offer to open any of your Pick-pocket Trinkets here, and I'll make an Example of you.

Mar.

Mr. *Lovegold*, give me leave to tell you, this is a Behaviour I don't understand. You give me a fine Pattern before Marriage of the Usage I am to expect after it.

Love.

Here are fine Patterns of what I am to expect after it.

Mar.

I assure you, Sir, I shall insist on all the Privileges of an *English* Wife. I shall not be taught to dress by my Husband. I am my self the best Judge of what you can afford; and if I do stretch your Purse a little, it is for your own Honour, Sir. The World will know it is your Wife that makes such a Figure.

Love.

Can you bear to hear this, Madam?

## Mrs. Wise.

I should not countenance my Daughter in any Extravagance, Sir; but the Honour of my Family, as well as yours, is concerned in her appearing handsomly. Let me tell you, Mr. *Lovegold*, the whole World is very sensible of your Fondness for Money, I think it a very great Blessing to you, that you have met with a Woman of a different Temper, one who will preserve your Reputation in the World, whether you will or no. Not that I would insinuate to you, that my Daughter will ever run you into unnecessary Expences; so far from it, that if you will but

generously make her a Present of Five thousand Pounds to fit herself out at first, in Clothes and Jewels, I dare swear you will not have any other Demand on those Accounts I don't know when.

#### Mar.

No, unless a Birth–Night Suit or two, I shall scarce want any thing more this Twelvemonth.

#### Love.

I am undone, plundered, murdered! However there is one Comfort; I am not married yet.

#### Mar.

And free to choose whether you will marry at all, or no.

### Mrs. Wise.

The Consequence, you know, will be no more than a poor Ten Thousand Pound, which is all the Forfeiture of the Breach of Contract.

#### Love.

But, Madam, I have one way yet. I have not bound my Heirs and Executors; and so if I hang my self, I am off the Bargain. In the mean while I'll try if I cannot rid my House of this Nest of Thieves. Get out of my Doors, you Cutpurses.

*Jewel.* Pay me for my Jewels, Sir, or return 'em me.

*Love.* Give him his Baubles; give them him.

Mar.

I shall not, I assure you. You need be under no Apprehension, Sir; you see Mr. *Lovegold* is a little disordered at present; but if you will come tomorrow, you shall have your Money.

Jewel.

I'll depend on your Ladyship, Madam.

*Love.* Who the Devil are you? What have you to do here?

*Uphol.* I am an Upholsterer, Sir, and am come to new-furnish your House.

Love.

Out of my Doors this Instant, or I will disfurnish your Head for you; I'll beat out your Brains.

*Mrs. Wise.* Sure, Sir, you are mad.

Love.

I was when I sign'd the Contract. Oh! that I had never learnt to write my Name.

# SCENE V.

## Charles Bubbleboy, Lovegold, Mariana, Mrs. Wisely.

*Cha.* Your most obedient Servant, Madam.

*Love.* Who are you, Sir? What do you want here?

*Cha.* Sir, my Name is *Charles Bubbleboy*.

Love. What's your Business?

Cha.

Sir, I was ordered to bring some Snuff–Boxes and Rings. Will you please, Sir, to look at that Snuff–Box; there is but one Person in *England*, Sir, can work in this manner. If he was but as diligent as he is able, he would get an immense Estate, Sir; if he

had an hundred thousand Hands, I could keep them all employed. I have brought you a Pair of the new invented Snuffers too, Madam. Be pleas'd to look at 'em, they are my own Invention; the nicest Lady in the World may make use of them.

*Love.* Who the Devil sent for you, Sir?

*Mar*. I sent for him, Sir.

Cha.

Yes, Sir, I was told it was a Lady sent for me: Will you please, Madam, to look at the Snuff-Boxes or Rings first?

*Love.* Will you please to go to the Devil, Sir, first, or shall I send you?

*Cha*. Sir!

Love.

Get you out of my House this Instant, or I'll break your Snuff-Boxes, and your Bones too.

Cha.

Sir, I was sent for, or I should not have come. *Charles Bubbleboy* does not want Custom. Madam, your most obedient Servant.

# SCENE VI.

Mariana, Mrs. Wisely, Lovegold, Wheedle.

### Mar.

I suppose, Sir, you expect to be finely spoken of abroad, for this; you will get an excellent Character in the World by this Behaviour.

### Mrs. Wise.

Is this your Gratitude to a Woman who has refused so much better Offers on your Account?

Love.

Oh! wou'd she had taken them. Give me up my Contract, and I will gladly resign all Right and Title whatsoever.

### Mrs. Wise.

It is too late now, the Gentlemen have had their Answers; a good Offer once refused, is not to be had again.

### Wheed.

Madam, the Tailor whom your Ladyship sent for, is come.

### Mar.

Bid him come in. This is an Instance of the Regard I have for you. I have sent for one of the best Tailors in Town to make you a new Suit of Clothes, that you may appear like a Gentleman; for as it is for your Honour that I should be well dress'd, so it is for mine that you should. Come, Madam, we will go in and give farther Orders concerning the Entertainment.

# SCENE VII.

Lovegold, List.

Love.

Oh, Lappet, Lappet! the Time thou hast prophesy'd of, is come to pass.

List.

I am your Honour's most humble Servant. My Name is *List*. I presume I am the Person you sent for the Laceman will be here immediately. Will your Honour be pleased to be taken Measure of first, or look over the Patterns; if you please, we will take Measure first. I do not know, Sir, who was so kind as to recommend me to you, but I believe I shall give you entire Satisfaction. I may defy any Tailor in *England* to understand the Fashion better than my self; the Thing is impossible, Sir. I always visit *France* twice a Year; and tho' I say it, that should not say it Stand upright, if you please, Sir

Love.

I'll take Measure of your Back, Sirrah I'll teach such Pick-pockets as you are, to come here. Out of my Doors, you Villain.

List.

Heyday! Sir, did you send for me for this, Sir? I shall bring you in a Bill without any Clothes.

# SCENE VIII.

Lovegold, James, Porter.

Love. Where are you going? What have you there?

### James.

Some fine Wine, Sir, that my Lady sent for to Mr. *Mixture* 's. But, Sir, it will be impossible for me to get the Supper ready by Twelve, as it is ordered, unless I have more Assistance. I want half a Dozen Kitchens too. The very Wild–Fowl that my Lady has sent for will take up a Dozen Spits.

### Love.

Oh! Oh! it is in vain to oppose it; her Extravagance is like a violent Fire, that is no sooner stopped in one Place, than it breaks out in another. *[Drums beat without.]* Ha! What is the Meaning of this? Is my House besieged? Would they would set it on Fire, and burn all in it.

### Drum. [Without.]

Heavens bless your Honour! Squire *Lovegold*, Madam *Lovegold*; Long Life and Happiness, and many Children attend you and so God save the King.

## [Drums beat.

[Lovegold goes out, and soon after the Drums cease.

James.

So, he has quieted the Drums, I find. This is the Roguery of some well–wishing Neighbours of his. Well, we shall soon see which will get the better, my Master or my Mistress. If my Master does, away go I; if my Mistress, I'll stay while there is any House–keeping, which can't be long; for the Riches of my Lord–Mayor would never hold it out at this Rate.

# SCENE IX.

Lovegold, James.

Love.

*James*! I shall be destroy'd; in one Week I shall not be worth a Groat upon Earth. Go, send all the Provisions back to the Tradesmen; put out all the Fires; leave not so much as a Candle burning.

James.

Sir, I don't know how to do it; Madam commanded me, and I dare not disobey her.

*Love*. How! not when I command thee!

James.

I have lost several Places, Sir, by obeying the Master against the Mistress, but never lost one by obeying the Mistress against the Master. Besides, Sir, she is so good and generous a Lady, that it would go against my very Heart to offend her.

*Love.* The Devil take her Generosity!

SCENE IX.

James.

And I don't believe she has provided one Morsel more than will be eat; why, Sir, she has invited above five Hundred People to Supper; within this Hour, your House will be as full as *Westminster-Hall* the last Day of Term but I have no Time to lose.

*Love*. Oh! Oh! What shall I do?

# SCENE X.

Lappet, Lovegold.

Lap.

Where is my poor Master? Oh, Sir! I cannot express the Affliction I am in to see you devoured in this manner. How cou'd you, Sir, when I told you what a Woman she was? how cou'd you undo your self with your Eyes open?

Love.

Poor *Lappet*! had I taken thy Advice, I had been happy.

Lap.

And I too, Sir; for, alack–a–day, I am as miserable as you are; I feel every thing for you, Sir; indeed I shall break my Heart upon your Account.

*Love.* I shall be much obliged to you if you do, *Lappet.* 

*Lap.* How could a Man of your Sense, Sir, marry in so precipitate a manner?

*Love.* I am not married; I am not married.

*Lap*. Not married!

*Love*. No, no, no.

*Lap.* All's safe yet. No Man is quite undone till he is married.

Love.

I am, I am undone. Oh, *Lappet*! I cannot tell it thee. I have given her a Bond, a Bond, a Bond of Ten Thousand Pound to marry her.

*Lap.* You shall forfeit it.

SCENE X.

Love. Forfeit what? my Life, and Soul, and Blood, and Heart?

*Lap.* You shall forfeit it

Love.

I'll be buried alive sooner; no, I am determined I'll marry her first, and hang my self afterward to save my Money.

Lap.

I see, Sir, you are undone; and if you should hang your self, I cou'd not blame you.

Love.

Could I but save one Thousand by it, I would hang my self with all my Soul. Shall I live, to die not worth a Groat?

*Lap.* Oh! My poor Master! My poor Master!

[Crying.

Love.

Why did I not die a Year ago! What a deal had I saved by dying a Year ago! [A Noise without.] Oh! Oh! dear Lappet, see what that is; I shall be undone in an Hour Oh!

# SCENE XI.

Lovegold, Clermont richly dress'd.

*Love.* What is here? Some of the People who are to eat me up?

*Cler.* Don't you know me, Sir?

Love.

Know you! Ha! What is the Meaning of this? Oh! it is plain, it is too plain; my Money has paid for all this Finery. Ah! base Wretch, could I have suspected you of such an Action, of lurking in my House to use me in such a manner?

Cler.

Sir, I come to confess the Fact to you; and if you will but give me leave to reason with you, you will not find your self so much injured as you imagine.

*Love.* Not injured! when you have stolen away my Blood!

Cler.

Your Blood is not fallen into bad Hands; I am a Gentleman, Sir.

SCENE XI.

Love.

Here's Impudence! a Fellow robs me, and tells me he is a Gentleman. Tell me who tempted you to it?

*Cler*. Ah, Sir! need I say Love.

*Love*. Love!

*Cler*. Yes, Love, Sir.

Love.

Very pretty Love, indeed; the Love of my Guineas.

Cler.

Ah, Sir! think not so? Do but grant me the free Possession of what I have, and, by Heav'n, I'll never ask you more.

Love.

Oh, most unequall'd Impudence! was ever so modest a Request!

Cler.

All your Efforts to separate us will be vain; we have sworn never to forsake each other; and nothing but Death can part us.

Love.

I don't question, Sir, the very great Affection on your Side; but I believe I shall find Methods to recover

Cler.

By Heavens! I'll die in defending my Right; and if that were the Case, think not, when I am gone, you ever could possess what you have robb'd me of.

Love.

Ha! that's true; he may find ways to prevent the restoring it. Well, well, let me delight my Eyes at least; let me see my Treasure, and perhaps I may give it you; perhaps I may.

Cler.

Then I am blest! Well may you say Treasure, for to possess that Treasure is to be rich indeed.

Love.

Yes, truly, I think three Thousand Pound may well be call'd a Treasure. Go, go, fetch it hither, perhaps I may give it you fetch it hither.

Cler.

To shew you, Sir, the Confidence I place in you, I will fetch hither all that I love and adore.

Love.

Sure, never was so impudent a Fellow; to confess his Robbery before my Face, and desire to keep what he has stolen, as if he had a Right to it.

# SCENE XII.

Lovegold, Lappet.

Love. Oh, *Lappet*! what's the Matter?

### Lap.

Oh, Sir! I am scarce able to tell you. It is spread about the Town that you are married, and your Wife's Creditors are coming in whole Flocks. There is one single Debt for Five Thousand Pound, which an Attorney is without to demand.

*Love.* Oh! Oh! Let 'em cut my Threat.

Lap.

Think what an Escape you have had; think, if you had married her

Love.

I am as bad as married to her.

Lap.

It is impossible, Sir; nothing can be so bad; what, you are to pay her Ten Thousand Pounds! well and Ten Thousand Pounds are a Sum they are a Sum, I own it they are a Sum; but what is such a Sum, compared with such a Wife? Had

you married her in one Week, you would have been in a Prison, Sir.

Love.

If I am, I can keep my Money; they can't take that from me.

Lap.

Why, Sir, you will lose twice the Value of your Contract before you know how to turn yourself; and if you have no Value for Liberty, yet consider, Sir, such is the great Goodness of our Laws, that a Prison is one of the dearest Places you can live in.

Love.

Ten Thousand Pound! No I'll be hang'd, I'll be hang'd.

Lap.

Suppose, Sir, it were possible (not that I believe it is) but suppose it were possible to make her abate a little; suppose one cou'd bring her to Eight Thousand

*Love.* Eight Thousand Devils take her

Lap.

But, dear Sir, consider; nay, consider immediately: for every Minute you lose, you lose a Sum Let me beg you, intreat you, my dear good Master, let me prevail on you not to be ruin'd. Be resolute, Sir; consider, every Guinea you give saves you a Score.

Love.

Well, if she will consent to, to to Eight Hundred. But try, do, try if you can make her 'bate any thing of that if you can you shall have a twentieth Part of what she 'bates, for your self.

Lap.

Why, Sir, if I could get you off at eight thousand, you ought to leap out of your Skin for Joy.

Love.

Wou'd I were out of my Skin

Lap.

You will have more Reason to wish so, when you are in the Hands of Bailiffs for your Wife's Debts

Love.

Why was I begotten! why was I born! why was I brought up! why was I not knock'd o'th' Head before I knew the Value of Money!

## Lap. [Knocking without.]

So, so, more Duns, I suppose Go, but into the Kitchen, Sir, or the Hall, and it will have a better Effect on you than all I can say.

Love.

What have I brought my self to! what shall I do! part with Eight Thousand Pounds! Misery, Destruction, Beggary, Prisons; but then on the other Side are, Wife, Ruin, Chains, Slavery, Torment! I shall run distracted either way!

Lap.

Ah! would we could once prove you so, you Old Covetous good for nothing.

# SCENE XIII.

Mariana, Lappet.

Mar. Well, what Success?

Lap.

It is impossible to tell, he is just gone into the Kitchen; where if he is not frighten'd into our Design, I shall begin to despair. They say Fear will make a Coward brave, but nothing can make him generous; the very Fear of losing all he is worth, will carce bring him to part with a Penny.

Mar.

And have you acquainted neither Frederick nor Harriet with my Intentions?

Lap.

Neither, I assure you. Ah, Madam, had I not been able to have kept a Secret, I had never brought about those Affairs that I have. Were I not secret, Lud! have Mercy upon many a virtuous Woman's Reputation in this Town.

Mar.

And don't you think, I have kept my real Intentions very secret?

Lap.

From every one, but me, I believe you have. I assure you I knew them, long before you sent for me this Afternoon to discover them to me.

Mar.

But could you bring him to no Terms, no Proposals? did he make no Offer?

Lap.

It must be done all at once, and while you are by.

Mar.

So you think he must see me, to give any thing to be rid of me.

Lap.

Hush, hush, I hear him coming again.

# SCENE XIV.

Lovegold, Lappet, Mariana.

Love.

I am undone! I am undone! I am eat up, I am devour'd, I have an Army of Cooks in my House.

Lap.

Dear Madam consider, I know Eight Thousand Pounds are a Trifle. I know they are nothing, my Master can very well afford them, they will make no Hole in his Purse; and if you should stand out, you will get more.

#### Love. [Putting his Hand before Lappet's Mouth.]

You lye, you lye, you lye, you lye. She never could get more, never should get more; it is more than I am worth, it is an immense Sum, and I will be starv'd, drown'd, shot, hang'd, burnt, before I part with a Penny of it.

Lap.

For Heaven's sake, Sir, you will ruin all Madam, let me beg you, intreat you, to 'bate these two thousand Pound. Suppose a Law–suit should be the Consequence, I know my Master would be cast, I know it would cost him an immense Sum of Money, and that he would pay the Charges of both in the end; but you might be kept out of it a long time. Eight Thousand Pounds now, are better than Ten five Years hence.

Mar.

No, the Satisfaction of my Revenge on a Man who basely departs from his Word, will make me amends for the Delay; and whatever I suffer as long as I know his Ruin will be the Consequence, I shall be easy.

Love. Oh, bloody–minded Wretch!

Lap.

Why, Sir, since she insists on it, what does it signify? You know, you are in her Power, and it will be only throwing away more Money to be compell'd to it at last, get rid of her at once; what are two thousand Pounds?

Why, Sir, the Court of *Chancery* will eat it up for a Breakfast. It has been given for a Mistress, and will you not give it to be rid of a Wife?

# SCENE XV.

Thomas, James, Mariana, Lovegold, Lappet.

[Lovegold and Lappet talk apart.

Tho.

Madam, the Musick are come which your Ladyship order'd; and most of the Company will be here immediately.

James.

Where will your Ladyship be pleas'd the Servants shall eat? for there is no Room in the House that will be large enough to entertain 'em.

Mar.

Then beat down the Partition, and turn two Rooms into one.

James.

There is no Service in the House proper for the Desert, Madam.

Mar.

Send immediately to the great China Shop in the Strand for the finest that is there.

Love.

How! and will you swear a Robbery against her? that she robbed me of what I shall give her?

*Lap.* Depend on it, Sir.

Love.

I'll break open a Bureau, to make it look the more likely.

Lap.

Do so, Sir; but lose no time. Give it her this Moment. Madam, my Master has consented, and, if you have the Contract, he is ready to pay the Money. Be sure to break open the Bureau, Sir.

*Mar*. Here is the Contract.

*Love.* I'll fetch the Money. It is all I am worth in the World.

# SCENE XVI.

Mariana, Lappet.

Mar.

Sure, he will never be brought to it yet.

Lap.

I warrant him; but you are to pay dearer for it than you imagine; for I am to swear a Robbery against you. What will you give me, Madam, to buy off my Evidence?

Mar.

And is it possible, that the old Rogue would consent to such a Villany!

Lap.

Ay, Madam; for half that Sum, he would hang half the Town: But truly, I can never be made amends for all the Pains I have taken on your Account. Were I to receive a single Guinea a Lye, for every one I have told this Day, it would make me a pretty tolerable Fortune. Ah! Madam, what a Pity it is that a Woman of my excellent Talents should be confin'd to so low a Sphere of Life as I am? Had I been born a great Lady, what a deal of Good should I have done in the World?

# SCENE XVII.

Mariana, Lappet, Lovegold.

Love.

Here, here, they are all in Bank–Notes all the Money I am worth in the World. (I have sent for a Constable, she must not go out of Sight before we have taken her into Custody.)

[Aside to Lappet.

Lap. [To Lovegold.] You have done very wisely.

Mar.

There, Sir, is your Contract. And now, Sir, I have nothing to do but to make my self as easy as I can in my Loss.

# SCENE XVIII.

Lovegold, Frederick, Clermont, Mariana, Lappet, Harriet.

Love.

Where is that you promis'd me? where is my Treasure?

Cler.

Here, Sir, is all the Treasure I am worth. A Treasure which the whole World's worth should not purchase.

Love.

Give me the Money, Sir, give me the Money; I say, give me the Money you stole from me.

*Cler*. I understand you not.

## Love.

Did not you confess you robb'd me of my Treasure?

## Cler.

This, Sir, is the inestimable Treasure I meant: Your Daughter, Sir, has this Day blest me by making me her Husband.

Love.

How! oh wicked vile Wretch! to run away thus with a pitiful mean Fellow, thy Father's Clerk.

Cler.

Think not your Family disgrac'd, Sir. I am at least your Equal born; and tho' my Fortune be not so large, as for my dearest *Harriet*'s sake I wish, still it is such as will put it out of your Power to make us miserable.

Love.

Oh! my Money, my Money!

Fred.

If this Lady does not make you amends for the Loss of your Money, resign over all Pretensions in her to me, and I will engage to get it restor'd to you.

Love.

How! Sirrah! are you a Confederate? Have you help'd to rob me?

Fred.

Softly, Sir; or you shall never see your Guineas again.

Love.

I resign her over to you entirely, and may you both starve together. So, go fetch my Gold

Mar.

You are easily prevail'd upon, I see, to resign a Right which you have not: But were I to resign over my self, it would hardly be the Man's Fortune to starve, whose Wife brought him Ten Thousand Pounds.

Love.

Bear Witness, she has confess'd, she has the Money, and I shall prove she stole it from me; she has broke open my Bureau, *Lappet* is my Evidence.

Lap.

I hope I shall have all your Pardons, and particularly yours, Madam, whom I have most injur'd.

Love.

A Fig for her Pardon, you are doing a right Action.

Lap.

Then, if there was any Robbery, you must have robb'd yourself. This Lady can be only a Receiver of stolen Goods: for I saw you give her the Money with your own Hands.

SCENE XVII.

*Love*. How! I! You! what! what!

Lap.

And I must own it, with Shame I must own it that the Money you gave her in Exchange for the Contract, I promis'd to swear she had stole from you.

Cler.

Is it possible Mr. Lovegold could be capable of such an Action as this?

*Love.* I am undone, undone, undone!

## Fred.

No, Sir, your Three Thousand Guineas are safe yet; depend upon it, within an Hour, you shall find them in the same Place they were first deposited; I thought to have purchas'd a Reprieve with them; but I find my Fortune has of it self bestow'd that on me.

## Love.

Give 'em me, give 'em me this Instant but then the Ten Thousand, where are they?

Mar.

Where they ought to be, in the Hands of one who I think deserves them. [Gives them to Frederick.] You see, Sir, I had no Design to the Prejudice of your Family. Nay, I have prov'd the best Friend you ever had; for, I presume, you are now thoroughly cur'd of your longing for a young Wife.

Love.

Sirrah, give me my Notes, give me my Notes.

Fred.

You must excuse me, Sir, I can part with nothing I receive from this Lady.

Love.

Then I will go to Law with that Lady, and you, and all of you; for I will have them again, if Law, or Justice, or Injustice will give them me.

Cler.

Be pacified, Sir; I think the Lady has acted nobly, in giving that back again into your Family, which she might have carried out of it.

## Love.

My Family be hang'd; if I am robb'd, I don't care who robs me. I would as soon hang my Son as another and I will hang him, if he does not restore me all I have lost; for I would not give half the Sum to save the whole World I will go, and employ all the Lawyers in Town; for I will get my Money again, or never sleep more.

### Fred.

I am resolv'd we will get the better of him now. But oh! *Mariana*! your Generosity is much greater in bestowing this Sum, than my Happiness in receiving it. I am an unconscionable Beggar, and shall never be satisfied while you have any thing to bestow.

*Mar*. Do you hear him

Har.

Yes, and begin to approve him for your late Behaviour has convinc'd me.

Mar.

Dear Girl, no more, you have frighten'd me already so much to-day, that rather than venture a second Lecture, I would do whatever you wish'd So, Sir, if I do bestow all on you, here is the Lady you are to thank for it.

Har.

Well, this I will say; when you do a good-natur'd thing, you have the prettiest way of doing it. And now, *Mariana*, I am ready to ask your Pardon for all I said to-day.

Mar.

Dear Harriet, no Apologies: All you said, I deserv'd.

# SCENE XVII.

Lappet, Ramilie, Frederick, Mariana, Clermont, Harriet.

Lap.

Treaties are going on, on both Sides, while you and I seem forgotten.

Ramil.

Why, have we not done them all the Service we can? what farther have they to do with us Sir, there are some People in Masquerading Habits without.

Mar.

Some I sent for to assist in my design on your Father; I think we will give them Admittance, tho' we have done without 'em.

*All.* Oh! by all means.

Fred.

Mrs. Lappet, be assur'd, I have a just Sense of your Favours; and both you and Ramilie shall find my Gratitude.

Dance here.

### Fred.

Dear *Clermont*, be satisfied I shall make no Peace with the old Gentleman, in which you shall not be included. I hope my Sister will prove a Fortune equal to your great Deserts.

Cler.

While I am enabled to support her in an Affluence equal to her Desires, I shall desire no more. From what I have seen lately, I think Riches are rather to be feared than wished; at least, I am sure Avarice, which too often attends Wealth, is a greater Evil than any that is found in Poverty. Misery is generally the End of all Vice; but it is the very Mark at which Avarice seems to aim; the *Miser* endeavours to be wretched.

He hoards eternal Cares within his Purse, And what he wishes most, proves most his Curse. *FINIS*.